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Strategic report

Chief executive review
Alan Ryder

On behalf of the directors. | am pleased to present our
strategic report for the period from 4 Apnil 2022 to 2 April
2023.

As we reflect on the reporting period. 1 am immensely
proud of all that we have achieved. RSK has become a
global leader in the delivary of sustainable solutions and
as we continue to grow. we will further strengthen this
position — working with our chients to tackle some of the
most pressing global issues. The Group I1s now comprised
of over 200 business units. delivering a huge range of
environmental engineenng and sustainability services to
over 8,000 clients arcund the world. While our service
offering 1s very diverse. the Group shares a commitment to
delivering a mare sustainable future by tackling key global
1I55ues such as

Addressing the current and future mpacts of cimate
change.

Supporting the global energy transition as we move
to clean energy

Ensuring clean water and sanitation for all
Sustainable foed preduction to feed rapidly growing
populations.

Urbanisation and the need to build sustanable cities.
Significant demand for new and upgraded
infrastructure

Underpnning all these key Issues 15 a need to protect life
on land ard below water. The world has woken up to the
realities cf climate change biodiversity loss and sccial
nequahty and these topics now sit front and centre in
every sector of the economy. As governments and
businesses across all sectors invest heavily In achieving a
more sustainable future. the opportunities for RSK
increase at pace. The challenge we face 1s responding to
these priorities and delivering to the standard that our
clients expect. We have demonstrated our ability to meet
these challenges. not only in the reparting period but
through our 34-year history so | remain confident in our
future position as we continue to focus on building a
strong, diverse and sustainable business

In ight of the market oppartuniies surrounding us and the
strong foundations we have put in place to suppoert further
business growth the Board has developed a new 2030
Global Strategy and a refreshed long-term vision which wil
guide us farward

“By doing the right thing and ensuring RSK is a
business that people want to be part of, we believe we
can become the world’s largest and most trusted
provider of sustainable solutions.”

As we look ahead to the next financial year and beyond. |
am excited zbout ali the opportunities we have in front of
us. The next financial year will be another year of very
significant growth as we use our committed funding
package to invest In our existing business perimeter and
acguire new businesseas to further strengthen our offering
and expand cur gecgraphic reach.

Business growth

While the Group. Iike other businesses, faced some
eccnomic uncertainty throughout the year. RSX continued
to grow organically and through strategic acquisition,
welcoming 2 747 new colleagues intc the business Our
organic growth is supported by a number of factors
including strong underlying market growth rates benefitting
from environmental and sustainability tailwinds, the
realisation of synergtes and cross-selling between Group
entites. access to jarger opportunities due to the Group's
collective offering and our ability to deliver exceptional
services and mnavative solutiens to our clients.

During the reporting period the Group invested heavily In
business support to build the foundations necessary
achieve its long-term ambition.

Durng the year. we completed 34 acquisitions (which
included B9 registered legal entities} each one adding
complementary services tc our cverall offering and
Improving our access {0 key sectors and geographies.
Acquisitions are made only after thorough internal due
diligence together with externzal financial and iegal due
diligence. All acquisitions are approved by the Directors
Qur acquisition programme provides our existing
businesses with opportunities for growth, and we will
continue to drive organic growth by encouraging cross-
selling and by building muitidisciphrary teams to solve
client problems. These teams draw upon resources found
In various companies acrcss the Group — and it is a real
strength of the Group that we can harness a very wide
range of services and technical skills. The breadth of
services offered by the Group s unique and 1s at the heanrt
of our strategic plan our acquisitions are intended to add
diversity to the Group. adding skills, customers and
extending our gecgraphic reach.

To support ongoing growth of the business RSK
continued to work with senior debt partner. Ares
Management Limited. Full details of these financial
facilities are available in the Notes to the Financial
Statements. note 26 loans and borrowing.

A complete summary of acquisitions made throughout the
year is available on page 54 while a snapshot of seme of
these businesses Is Included below.
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Pensar

Pensar an infrastructure sclutions provider operating
across Australia, brings experience in solving complex
challenges relating ta process water mfrastructure. non-
process water infrastructure. specialist infrastructure,
infrastructure rehabilitation and electrical infrastructure.

Pensar is the largest acquisition outside the Linited
Kingdom compieted by the Greup to date and the sixth
business to join RSK Australia in 18 months.

MSS Group

UK-based faciities and envircnmental service provider
employing 600 people. MSS Group operates in highiy
requlated and frequently hazardous enviranments and
pravides industrnal and commerciai cleaning. waste
management. asbestos removal. water treatment. security
services and more.

The addition of MSS Group enhanced RSK's existing
asbestos offenng while also providing entry into facilities
services sector and improved capacity for compliance
services in relation to water treatment.

Copper

Copper 1s a communications firm specialising in UK
infrastructure projects. The business specialises in
buiding understanding and acceptance of infrastructure
with the public. stakehciders the media. government and
elected representatives. while helping organisations to
protect and enhance their reputations.

Copper's infrastructure communications skills are an
excellent addition to the Group. naturally complementing
the engineering and environmental solutions provided

Brown & May Marine

Brown & May Marine is a fishenes and marine
environmental consultancy providing a range of services
associated with fish ecoiogy. commercial fishenes and
other marine activities for numerous national and
nternational offshore developments.

The marine sector 1s one of growing importance for the
Group with the addition of Brown and May Marne acting
as a springboard for several other businesses wanting to
break into the sector,

WGM

WGM 1s an engineering solution provider with a team of
over 300 professionals in mechanical. electrical. and civil
engineering disciplines. Aligning these services with
strategically located off-site manufacturing faciities. WGM
can deliver turnkey solutions to its clients

With strength in the water and energy sectors. WGM fits
well alongside existing Group companies and will lead to
numercus synergy and cross-selling opportunities,

Wyse Power

WysePower 1s the market leader in tempaorary site

services with mare than 250 directly employed and
qualified staff operating from eight regional UK offices.
WyseBase part of the WysePower Group offers a carbon-
neutral and cost-effective alternative to traditional concrete
foundations for moduiar and building set-ups, as well as
ground stabilisation and walkway solutions.

Temporary site services remain in tugh demand and
expectaticns are that this will continue.

Richard Irvin FM

Richarg Irvin FM 1s a technical facihtes management and
energy solutions company. The business maintains.
repairs and improves more than 62 000 UK commercial
and domestic properties with a full scope of services
which include heating. ventilation. air conditioning.
electrical. hghting. detection renewable systems. fabnic
and specialist services, often delivered as complete
facilities management packages.

Richard Irvin FM 18 strong strategic fit alongside the
Group’s existing portfolio of businesses servicing the
property sector.

Sustainability

Since our inception in 1589 sustainability has been at the
heart of how we do business. with ‘promoting the concept
of sustainability in all that we do” being one of cur cere
guiding principles

The past year has seen us witness a number of
devastating extreme weather events — flooding in Pakistan
megadrcought in the Horn of Africa and wildfires in Europe
— that have been caused at least in part, by the climate
crisis. Such chimate impacts are very much with us and as
a result the calls for urgent transformative action grow
even louder

In response to this we have recantly launched a new
sustainability strategy Second Nature {published after the
reporting period} We achieved great things under our first
Sustainability Route Map which was launched in FY19 to
define aur commitment to promoting ethics and
sustanabilty in all that we do However as poth the
sustanability landscape and our business have evolved
gver recent years we knew we needed to do more to play
our part in tackling the ‘triple emergency’ of climate
change biodiversity l0ss and social inequality Second
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Nature reflects this raising of ambition. bullding on the
success of our previcus Sustanability Route Map to shape
our sustainability journey to 2030,

As the impacts of climate change are becoming
increasingly apparent we are also pleased to include our
first publicly reported assessment of the risks and
opportunities that climate change presents to our business,
In hine with the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD) in our FY23 sustamability report At
RSK. we see TCFD reporting as an opportunity to enhance
the long-term resilience of our business to the growing
impacts of cimate change. As such we will continue to
perform in-depth climate change risk and opportunity
assessments for each of cur core regions over the next
five years to fully understand and taka appropriate steps to
minimise nisks and maximise opportunities associated with
chmate change across regions and supply chains.

Thanks tc the continued commitment of our emplayees
and businesses. we were delighted to meet the
sustainability KPIs outlined in our sustanability-linked
finance deal with Ares Management for the second
consecutive year This has delivered considerable interest
rate savings for FY23 100% of which will be invested in
global sustainability projects. predominantly via the RGK
Foundation.

Safety, health and quality

Maintaining an unwavering commitment to health and
safety 1s one of our nine guicing principies. We am te be a
leader in health and safety by ensuring our glohal
operations are striving to achieve zero hlarm to pecple. our
business systems. our faciiiies and the environment.

Our dedicated safety health environment and quality
(SHEQ) team has an estabhshed safety. health
environment and quaiity management system (SHEQ-MS)
and 1s committed to continuous improvement of the
Group's SHEQ performance. which 1s reflected in a set of
objectives andg targets and asscciated management
strategy. in ine with |50 standards.

QOur people

We recognise that equality diversity and inclusion (EDI)
are integral to the success of our business and we seek to
be an inclusive employer with a diverse workforce in which
everyone Is treated farrly and feels valuad.

In FY23. we established a dedicated ECI team to drive the
development and delivery of RSK's EDI strategy across all
parts of the Group. The strategy 15 overseen by our
passicnate and knowledgeable EDI steening Group which
has board-level representation.

Going forward the EDI team aims tc work with key internal
and external stakeholders to guarantee fully inclusive and
accessible recruitment. to create and deliver industry-
leading learning and development oppertunities. to support
the continued development and embedding of cur EDI
strategy with a tailored communications and global
engagement plan, and to develop further employee
netwarks. so our colleagues can thrive in an inctusive and
diverse enviranment.

Our entire operation depends on the people who work for
our businesses around the world, and taking care of their
physical mental social and financial wellpeing remains
our priority.

We already have a broad range of mitiatives and events to
support employee wellbeing, which are supported by our
network of wellbeing champions and mental health first
aiders across the Group. Some of our key initiatives
inciude the Pedometer Challenge. the cycte to waork
scheme pension advice flexible working and menopause
awareness fraining alcng with a central online hub to
access a range of wellbeing resources and external
support services. Other highlights this year include training
an additional 64 mental health first aiders across the
Group and delivering menopause awareness traning to
senior leaders, highlighting how the menopause affects
employees and how to support them in the working
envirgnment.

Financial review

The combination of organic growth in several business
units the full year effect of acquisitions completed in the
previous period and the continuation of our acquisition
programme has resulted in turnover exceeding £1 billion
for the first time in the Group's history. increasing 53.3%
from the previous year (2023 £1.220 milhon. 2022 £796
milhon) Earnings Before Interest. Tax. Depreciation and
Amortisation (EBITDA) and hefore exceptional non-
recurnng costs have increased to £83.4 million (2022
£59.4 million) The exceptional non-recurring costs were
£12.6 million in the pericd (2022 £7.4 million). The table
below shows the growth in the Group over the last five
years,

Cash generated from operations increased te £75.4 million
{(107% of EBITDA) which compares to £31.9 million (61%
of EBITDA) in the previous reporting pertod.

Given the numbper of acguisitions completed during the
repcrting perod. these results do not tell the full story of
the shape cof the Group today. To that end. proforma
figures for the Group at the end of the financial year show
a Group of companies delivering annual turnover of
£1.433 0 milion {2022 £339.6 million) and adjusted
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EBITDA (as defined in our finance facilities) of £116.4
million {2022 £75 4 miilion).

The directors consider that these results display the
exceptional strength of cur Group and the resillence of our
business strategy.

£ milion

12200
(517.9)
702.1
(531.4)
(103.0)
15.7
834

regularly review the market sectors in which we operate
and are satisfied that we are aligned to those sectors least
iikely to be i/mpacted by gickal economic downturn.

£ million £ miflion £ mullion £ milhen
796 0 350.5 274.8 208.8
(314 7) (137.5) (102.5) (75.1)
4813 2130 172.3 133.5
(346.2) {158.2) (128.9) (88.1)
(90.7} (30.7) (29.8) (25.3)
15.0 17.7 129 0o
59.4 40.8 26.5 201

*Operating expenses excluding amortisation. deprectation and non-recurring costs

RSK is proud to be a global, employee-owned business.
We have made a conscious decision to grow the Group
investing in the business to capitalisa on the market
opportunities. We have chosen to finance this growth
through debt (barrowing funds) as this ensures our
employees retain control of the business Having taken the
deciston to fund our growth with debt, the key metncs for
success as measured by our board of directors are the
covenants agreed with aur lenders.

The primary covenant with our lenders. requires our
directors to maintain leverage (the relationship between
EBITCA and debt) at an acceptable fevel and with
satisfactory headroom from the point at which our covenant
would have an impact. Leverage at the end of the reporting
period was 6.489x which the directors are satisfied with as
it leaves the business with a geod level of headroom
against our covenants.

The global economy and impact of rising
interest rates

Interest rates have increased durng the reporting pericd

and, as a debt-backed business, this has a direct impact
on RSK. The board of directors keeps our facilities under
review and monitors interest rates very closely. We have
carried out sensitivity analysis and modelled a vanety of

scenarios based on current and future projected interest

rates. Under all scenanos we remain comfortably within

our covenants

While there has been some degree of uncertainty in the
global economy. we believe RSK 1s well placed to weather
the impact of any recessions through the diversity of our
service ines and the countries In which we operate. We

The future

As descriped in the "Chief Executive Review” the Beard
has developed a new 2030 Global Strategy and a
refreshed long-term vision for the Group Detalls of the
2030 Gicbal Strategy can be found on www rskGroup.com.

The 2030 Global Strategy sets out our ambition for the
medium term and while the financial metrics we strive
towards are far more ambitious (over £5 billion revenue by
2030). the fundamental dnivers and levers described in the
strategy are very similar to those which we have focused
on for the past several years.

We will continue to grow the Group through bolt-on
acquisitions and investmentinto our existing businesses,
realising synergies and creating value within our portfclio of
businesses We aim to become the world's largest and
most trusted provider of sustainable sclutions and
recogrise that to achieve this we need to continue to do
the right thing and ensure RSK s g businass that pecple
want to be part of.

We believe diversity in our business offering gives us
greatest resilience to external market forces. Finally we
will continue to carry out research and development to
ansure we deliver innovative solutions In response {o the
challenges faced by our clients and wider socrety.

We have become a global leader our field and nave the
acquisition and banking facilities provided by Ares and
NatWest Bank to support further growth and diversification
in FY24. The board has alsc begun the process of
identifying the best finanaial structure to support the
delivery of our strategy to 2030
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Developments occurring post-
reporting period

RSK continues to deliver its growth strategy and has. s0
far completed 25 acquisitions in FY24. These businesses.
covering a wide range of technical specialisms. are in line
with our 2030 Global Strategy. Detalls can be found in note
32 Non adjusting events after the financial period within
the Notes to the Financial Statements.

To support cur long-term ambittons the Company has
appeinted BDO LLP as lead auditer to the Group from
FY24 onwards.

Twe additional directors were appointed to the Board on
10" August 2023. | R Gaodacre and D | Taylor.

Key performance indicators

The directors maonitor several key performance indicaters
(KPIs) ang debate the company performance relative to
those KPIs at board meetings and divisicnal meetings.
Examples of KPls that are monitered include

net fee iIncome

accidents and near misses

positive interventions to improve safety performance
customer feedback - both praise and complaints
staff turnover

utilisation of staff

gender pay gap

greenhouse gas emissions

cash at bank

debtor and creditor days

The directors are pleased to report that performance of the
company in respect of all KPIs monitored 1s satisfactory.
Staff turnover increased from the previous year (2023

16% 2022 15%) but this was expected given market
conditions and remains consistent with the UK average.

Risk and uncertainty

RSK operates a risk management process that 1s
integrated within normal management and governance
procedures. The directors have identified risks that might
adversely affect the Group's business in the medium and
long-term The directors have considerad the risks to the
business and means {0 manage those risks.

The primary nsks identified. and means of miigation. are

People

Fallure to maintain a sufficient employee rescurce at
appropriate levels of seniority and experience. The
directors recognise that having a sufficient resource to
undertake projects 1s critical to our continued success. To
that end. the directors are committed to ail the components
of Investors in Peopie and seek to be an employer of
choice. We aim to hire the most talented of people we
communicate widely and openly, share our vision and
principles. we train ocur peopte and empower them. In this
way we pian to look after our clients’ needs in an
exemplary fashion The directors monitor people metrics.
including retention statistic, to identify any trends or 1ssues.

Clients and projects

Termination of projects or failure to win work in our core
markets. VWe strive to delight our clients and keep abreast
of their requirements and expectations through regular
communication project reviews. client satisfaction surveys
and wider market assessments. We want to wark to the
highest technical and health and safety standards and to
these ends. we operate in accordance with 150 9001 1SQO
14001 and 1SO 45001 and. where applicable comply with
the varnous specific industry codes of practice and
standards.

Further the Group has deliberately chosen to be diverse —
in terms of service offering. market sccters and geography
— to mitigate the nsks associated with a slowdown In any
single market.

Global economy

Rising inflation interest rates and the rnisk of recession In
many of the countries we operate in presents risk to all
businesses. including those across the Group. To mitigate
this nsk. we remain as diverse as possible strengthening
our offer in sectors that we consider the most resilient such
as renewable energy and sustainable infrastructure. The
Group 1s alse nimble. able to make decisions very quickly
and pivot to different market sectors when required We
closely manage costs and are focused on cash
management tc ensure we remain competitive in the
marketptace.

The impact of nsing interest rates 1s monitored very
closely with projected future Increases anaiysed in our
financial models. Under all scenarios. we remain
comfortably within our covenants.

Financial risk management

RSK's operations expose it to a vanety of financial nsks.
Financial nsks need to be considered throughout the
ifetime of a prgject. The directors operate an mternal
review committee so that tenders are reviewed before



Strategic report

submission to a client to assess and manage commercial
and financial risks associated with projects. Risk of late
payment by clients, as well as bad debts. could result in
the Group having insufficient cash to pay suppliers in a
timely fashion. The directors have considered this, and
have adequate working capital facilities in place, which
mitigates risks associated with late payments by clients
and pressure from creditors for mare prompt settlement of
accounts. Internal Group hedging against movement in
exchange rates 1s used wherever possible and appropriate
contracts for additional cover are taken out if required. A
primary strategy employed by the directors to miimise
financial 715k 15 one of diversity of operations. as set out
above, with a mix of services. chients. projects and
gecgraphical spread of aperations High inflation i
operating and projects costs I1s a nisk to the business. the
nsk 13 managed through the contract and pricing
mechanisms in place.

Climate change

We have publicly reported the risks and opportunities that
chmate change presents to our business in fine with the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD) in our FY23 sustainability report. For the
assessment of this reporuing period we completed an in-
depth review of the UK as the majority of cur revenue and
EBITDA at the tme of assessment onginated from this
‘ocation.

While cimate events may pose some risk to our business
and supply chains given the nature of our business. we
believe on balance this will be outweighed by the
opportunities presented through increased demand for our
services as our clients assess the Iikely mpact of climate
change and then implement works to adapt to flood nisk.
sea level nse and more extreme weather events. As such
we are cenfident that our strategy 1s robust and allows us
to be both resilient to potentiai nsks whiie also in a position
to respond dynamically to the significant opportunities of
the low carbon economy transition.

Over the next five years. we will perform an in-depth
climate change rnisk and opportunity assessment for each
of our core regions, with Europe and South East Asia being
completed in FY24. The continuation of these assessments
recognises that TCFD was designed to be an tterative
process. recatibrated ang expanded upon annuaily. and
will ensure we understand and take appropriate steps to
minimise risks and maximise opportunities associated with
climate change across regions and supply chams to build a
thriving and resilient business.

Our full TCFD report can be found in the annex of our
FY23 sustamnability report

Data protection and technology

A cyber-attack has the potential to bring down internal or
external systems. disrupting client services or leading to
the loss of data, which could subsequently bring itigation,
fines and reputational damage. To milgate these risks.
RSK applies policies and practices based on recognised
international standards. We also have an established
internal IT securty team and are utilising cloud-based
systems that offer the highest standard cf data protecticn
and recovery available.

Political instability

RSK 1s active 1n areas of the Middle East and Africa where
there I1s often pelitical unrest and the potential for viclence
If the securnty situaticn deteriorates in those areas in which
we work. it might become necessary for RSK to withdraw
from affected regions on a temporary or permanent basis
and thus reduce work levels.

Section 172 statement

The directors have acted in the way they consider in good
faith would be most likely to promote the success of the
company for the benefits of its members. The following
narrative sets out how the directors have fulfilled these
duties in accordance with Section 172 of the UK
Companies Act 2008.

As directors of a large organisaticn. the RSK directors fulfil
their duties through a governance framewcrk that
delegates day-to-day responsibilibes to an extended
executive leadership team and employees. with
appropriate review and assurance processes n place.

The likely consequences of any decision in
the long term

RSK s delivening a long-term strategy to be a highly
diverse Group of companies that provide an end-to-end
service offering to a high number of clients. across many
sectors and gecgraphies. This strategy is built upon a
wider societal purpose to support our clients as nations
strive to deliver the Sustainable Development Goals
described by the Umited Nations. This strategy focuses on
long-term business resilience rather than short-term gains

The directors are well informed con the views of
stakehclders and use this information when making
decisions. Developments are shared regularly with key
stakeholder Groups.

In the financial year. the Board reviewed the existing 2025
Strategy and. as the targets had already been met.
determined that a refreshed strategy was required. The
Board n cansultation with the wider senicr leadership
team developed the 2030 Global Strategy setting out more

8
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ambitious targets for the future. In developing the 2030
Global Strategy. the Board considered the long-term
interests of all RSK stakeholders and. in particular those of
the shareholders. employees and funders. Beyond
financial metrics. the 2030 Global Strategy alsc outlines
the positive impact the business intends to deliver to
empicyees, stakeholders. the environment and the
communities in which we operate.

To suppart continued growth, in line with aur business
plan. RSK agreed a £250 million upsize of our debt facility
with Ares in May 2C23. The Directors also began the
process of appointing a new auditor to support the Group
from FY24, a decision which we believe important tc our
longer-term plans.

The interests of the Group’s employees

The Group 1s committed to being a responsible employer
and our directors recognise that our peopie are the key to
success. We engage our employees in several ways
(further information cn specific develgpments 1s available in
the "Our people” secticn of the Strategic Report). making
sure everyane is involved in the development of cur
pbusiness and feels proud to be part of it.

We know that creating a diverse and inclusive workplace 1s
essential to our long-term success and have taken steps to
further embed this in our company cuitire, We also
reccgnise the importance of being a compassionate
employer and supporting the wellbeing of our employees.

To help our businesses attract and appoint talent. the
Group has invested heawvily in recruitment. This includes
appointing an in-house recruitment team. utilising scftware
to manage apphcants more effectively refreshing reward
and benefit packages and making better use of online job
boards.

To support professional development of our people. the
Group utillises an online learning platform to give
employees and managers access to a wide range of
technical and non-technical training courses. This virtual
learming s further supported by classroom training and
options for cempany-funded professional qualifications.

A series of actions were taken by the directors during this
reporting period to support the workforce. This included
additional investment in a centralise graduate
development programme. early careers team. EDI team
and wellbeing team launch of a leadership development
programme and delivering a number of wellbeing and EDI
events for our employees covering topics such as men's
health week. mental health awareness menopause
awareness and unconscious ias training.

The need to foster the Group’s business
relationships with suppliers, customers and
others

A key component of RSK's strategy s continually
broadening our client base and building our service offering
directly around their evolving requirements. We regularly
review the business refationships we hold across the
Group and measure customer satisfaction through routine
performance monitoring feedback and quarterly
guestionnaires.

We have driven significant organic growth through the
cross-selling of services and encourage collapboration and
open communication across the Group to maintain this
growth.

The directors remain actively invoived in relationship
management of suppliers and customers attending
meetings with key clients and suppliers to provide updates
on RSK Group activities. This gives directors first-hand
insight into the needs of our client base

During the reporting period. the Board approved further the
investment in a centralised business development and
sales function. The purpose of this team I1s to manage
client relationships at a Group level. seeking opportunities
which bring our variaus business units together for the
benefit of our clients. On reguest of our UK water chents.
the Group hosted a series of ‘speed-dating events where a
client organisation had the cpportunity to network with
multiple RSK business units.

The impact of the Group’'s operations on the
community and the environment

Sustainabilty sits at the heart of our business model and
informs all that we do.

As the previous strategy did. the 2030 Global Strategy
outlines the iImportance of the United Nations’ Sustainable
Development Goals as a key driver for our business RSK
endeavours to support chents around the world on 1ssues
such as carbon reduction. adapting to a changing cimate,
the need to feed. house transport and educate ever-
growing populations the transition to clean energy,
providing clean water and sanitation for alt and protecting
and enhancing the environment. Our business growth.
through acguisition and the creation of new business lines
is directly influenced by the SDGs.

We are commitied to supporting the communities i which
we operate and inttiatives and chanties that align with our
values. In using local suppliers ard offering internships and
employment within the communities we serve. we bring
positive impact. Sponscrship, fundraising and employee
volunteering are often targeted to the local communities
near our projects and offices, We contribute to the
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protecton or enhancement of local ecosystems, provide
services to vulnerable Groups. promote science,
technology, engineering and maths (STEM) learning and
education and help improve economic and social wellbeing
in cur communities.

At the end of the previous financial year the Board
welcomed a Chief Sustainability Officer and Chief Scientist
to drive our sustainability agenda at Board-level. Within
the reporting perind our sustainablity team has helped our
businesses meet the previously agreed sustainability
targets. The Chief Sustainability Officer, in consultation
with internal and external stakeholders has led the
development of a new Sustainability Strategy, Second
Nature, which was formally launched after the reporting
period.

Further sustainability initiatives delivered during the penod
are described in the ‘Sustanability’ section of the Strategic
Report and the FY23 Sustainability Report (avallable at
www rskGroup.com) and include investment in electric
vehicles renewable energy at many premises. the
installation of electnc charge points at offices and
development of a sacial value calculator.

As part of cur funding agreement with Ares we recerve an
interest rate savings for achieving our ESG KPis and have
committed to remnvest 100% of this savings into
sustainability projects and mitiatives, creating further
positive impact in communities and for the environment.
The Board was pleased to meet all agreed KPIs set out in
the Aras facility agreement. receving an interest savings.
as per our agreement. This savings is now being deployed
In suppoert of environmental and sacial value projects
around the world through the RSK Foundation which has
been established duning the financial year

The desirability of the Group maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business
conduct

A reputation far high standards of business conduct 1s
crucial to the busimess and its future success and this
underpins everything we do and influences the decisions
that the directers make. Our Ethics Cade, updated this
year. provides the framework to which every individual at
RSK must follow so that everything we do 1s in line with our
values, 1s {egally compliant and 1s of the highest ethical
standard.

Approved by the Board on 167 February 2024 and signed
on its behalf by

B 1 i

A A Ryder
Directer
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Directors’ report

The directors present therr report. together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the periad
fram 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023,

Directors of the company

The directors who held office during the period were as
follows

S Bangels

N P Board

G Charnock

A S Draper

R D Edwards {resigned 31 March 2023)
C Knighten

MW Mason

S Mcgford

A A Ryder

M A E Smyth
I H Strudwick
H L Thomas
G W Tuckwell

S Wray
G D Young

P J Witherington (appainted 31 March 2023)
i R Goodacre (Appointed 10th August 2023)
D | Taylor (Appointed 10th August 2023)

Each of the directors is an employee of the Group and
recelves remuneration accordingly. No remuneration 1s
paid to any director for their services as a director

Directors’ Indemnity

The Company is party tc a Group-wide directors’ and
officers liability insurance which provides cover to all the
current Directors. Thare are no qualifying indemnity
provisicns {as defined in the Companies Act 2006) that
benefit the Directors of the Company.

Principal activity

RSK Group Limited 1s a holding company. but through
subsidiary companies is engaged in the environmental,
sustainability and engineering fields. "RSK" refers to RSK
Group Limited and all its subsidianes. RSK s focused on
providing services to public and private sector clients that
assist them in meeting the United Nations' Sustainable
Development Goals. This includes research consultancy
and technical services in sectors ranging from water food
and dnnk and infrastructure to urban development mining

and waste. RSK is a global leader In the delivery of
sustanable solutions.

Financial results and
dividends

The financial results for the year are shown in the
consolidated prefit and loss account on page 18. In the
financial year dividends of £1.8 million were paid (2022.
£1.8 million). This included an interim dividend and final
gividend of £1 per share.

Business relationships

Please refer to our Sectign 172 statement above.

Employees

As a rapidly growing business buiit by our employees our
ability to keep everyone in the Group informed and
engaged 1s very important, "Encouraging staff consultation
and clear communication” has been one of RSK's nine
guiding principles since it was founded more than 30 years
ago. Today our employees remain at the heart of
everything we do. and we are commtted to open and clear
communication at all levels.

We have several internal inthatives in place to engage
our emplayees. share news and updates quickly and
make it easter to collaborate and communicate across
the Group. ranging from a weekly internal newsletter and
a comprehensive intranat system to frequent Group-wide
email updates from Aian Ryder. RSK Chief Executive
Officer. Emplcyees are alsc encouraged to get involved
In regular interal webinars, Group-wide events and
intiatives.

Cur policies and procedures support our disabled
colleagues It s the policy of the Group that the
recruitment, iearning and development and promaotion of
disakbled perscns should, as far as possible, be identical to
that of other employees. Should any employee of the
Group become disabled during their time with us. we aim
to retrain that employee and make reasonable
adjustments to their working envirenment where possible
to keep the employee with the Group.

Energy and greenhouse gas
emission reporting

We report our scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions and our
scope 3 emissions assoclated with business travel
according to the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol and as

11



Directors’ report

we are a UK headguartered business, the UK Department
for Environment. Food and Rural Affairs (Defra)
environmental reporting guidelines. We are in the process
of collating more accurate raw data for additional scope 3
categories. including purchased goods and services and
staff commuting. which will be included tn our FY24 report.

Acquisitions completed in the sacand haif of each financial
year are not included in that year's carben footprint and
thetr turnover is deducted from the total turnover figure
used to calculate our carben Intensity. These acquisitions
are then added to our footpnnt the following year. Every
year, our carbon focotprint is independently audited and
verified by RSM.

We are committed to decarbonising our business in line
with the Paris Agreement's 1.5°C scenario and have

submitted our proposed emisston reduction targets to the
Science Based Targets mntiative (SBT1). We intend ta
reduce our Scope 1 emissicns by 50% by FY30 against a
FY20 baseline and increase cur use of renawable enargy
to 100% by 2030 (from 57% in FY20). As part of our SBT
commitment, we also intend to engage our supply chain in
reducing emissions, at least 70% to have set their own
science-based targets by 2028

Additional data 1s valuntary disclosed in table 1.

In accordance with Streamlined Energy and Carbon
Reporting {SECR). the Group s required to report UK
ensrgy use and associated carbon emissions. These data
are shown in table 2.

Tabie1: Global energy use and associated carbon emissions

Tabie 2: UK energy use and associated carbon emissions

138.287 71.043
118.2 g1
24274 11.280
1403 809
8.148 6 029
33.823 18.118
28 23
108.999 57 834
118.5 91
18.688 10.342
766 401
6.840 5.031
26 305 15.774
29 25

12



Directors’ report

. . Approved by the Beard on 16" February
Actions taken to reduce emissions and 2024 and signed on its behalf by

improve energy performance

While we await venfication of cur SBTi targets, we are H'l }/thj.l,
2V

continuing with our programme of decarbonisaticn and will

be developing a net zero transition plan to set a clear

pathway to achieve our Paris-aligned emission reductions A A Ryder
and bulld long-term business resilience. Some of our

existing carbon reduction measuras include Director

- encouraging employees to use the hierarchy of
travel to minimise business travel emissions

- installing electric vehicle charge points at our
offices

- installing smart meters across our UK offices, to
better understand and reduce our gnergy use

- sourcing electncity through a green tariff.
Currently over 50% of our Group's electricity s
provided through a green tanff

- Increasing the number of electnc vehicles (EV) in
our fleet and where possible using EV hire cars
using hydrotreated vegetable oil (HVO) as an
alternative fuel in plant
offering flexible homeworking cptions to staff
whenever their role allows 1t

Corporate governance

The Company 1s imited by shares. Its governing
documents are its articles of asscciation together with a
shareholders” agreement.

The Company has an audit committee with terms of
reference agreed by the directors The audit committee
reports to the directors and meets with the Company's
auditors several times each year as part of its work.

To review the internal controls of Group entities the
Group has established an internal audit function that
reports 1o the audit committee and the directors on a
regular basis throughout the year.

The Group’'s modern slavery statement 1s available at
www. rskGroup.com.

Disclosure of information to
the auditors

Each director has taken the steps that they ought to
have taken as a director to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the
company's auditors are aware of that information. The
directors confirm that they know of no relevant
information and of which the audrtors are unaware



Statement of Directors'

The directors acknowledge their responsibiiities for
preparing the Annual Repart and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Campany law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law). Under company law the
directars must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the company and of the profit ar loss of
the company for that period. In preparing these financial
statements, the directors are required to

select suitable accounting policies and apply them
consistently

make judgements and accounting estimates that
are reasonable and prudent.

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained In the financial
statements: and

prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to presume
that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adeguate
accounting records that are suthcient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any tme the financial position of the company
and enable them 1o ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Comparnies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularties.

Responsibilities

14



Independent Auditor's Report

to the Members of RSK Group Limited
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of RSK Group
Limited {the 'parent company') and its subsidiaries (the
'‘Group') far the period from 4 April 2022 to 2 Aprii 2023,
which compnse the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account,
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Company Balance Sheet,
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. Company
Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows and Notes to the Financial Statements.
inciuding a summary of significant accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparaton is applicable law and Unied Kingdom
Accounting Standards, ncluding Financial Reporting
Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ {United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practica).

In our apinion the financial statements’

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's
and the parent company's affairs as at 2 April 2023
and of the Group's loss for the pernicd then ended

have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice: and

- have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Audrting {UK) {ISAs (UK)) and applicable law
Qur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's responsibihties for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group In accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard,
and we have fulfiled our other ethical responrsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. Wa believe that the
audit evidence we have obtaned s sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going
concern

In auditing the financial statements. we have concluded that
the directer's use of the going concern basis of accaunting
n the preparaticn cf the financiai statements is appropnate.

Based on the work we have performed. we have nct
identified any materal uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, indwidually or collectively may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s and the parent company's
ability to continue as a going concern for a percd of at least
twelve months from when the original financial statements
were authorised forissue.

Qur responstbilities and the responsibilities of the directers
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included In the
annual report. other than the financial statements and cur
auditor's report therecn. Our opimon on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and. except
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report. we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion therecn.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements. our
responsibility 1s to read the other information and. in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materally
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears o be materially
misstated. If we identify such matenal inconsistencies or
apparent maternial misstatements, we are required toc
determine whether there ts a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement cf the other
infermation. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
infermation. we are required to repert that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matter
prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our opinton. based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit.

the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors’ Report for the financial period for which
the financial statements are prepared i1s consistent
with the financial statements and

the Strategic Repart and Directors' Report have
been prepared In accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
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Independent Auditor's Report

to the Members of RSK Group Limited

Matters on which we are
required to report by
exception

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the Group
and the parent company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified matenal
misstatemeants In the Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if. in our opinion

adequate accounting records have not been kept by
the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us. or

the parent company financial statements are not In
agreement with the accounting records and returns.
or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration

specified by law are not made. or

we have not recewed all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explaned more fully In the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilittes set out on page 14 the directors are
responsibie for the preparation of the financial statements
and far being satisfied that they give a true and farr view,
and for such internal centrol as the directors detarming is
necessary tc enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstaternent. wheather due t©
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements. the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent
company's ability to continue as a going concern disclosing.
as applicable matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company
or to cease operations. or have ho realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinorn.
Reasonable assurance 15 a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted In accordance with
1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can anse from fraud or error and are
considered material If, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reascnably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements

Irregularities. ncluding fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and reguiations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibriities. outlined above
to detect matenal misstatements in respect of irregularities
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are
capable of detecting irregularities. including fraud is detaiied
below

Our approach to identifying and assessing the risks of
material misstatement in respect of wregulanties including
fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations. was as
follows.

the engagement parner ensured that the
engagement team collectively had the appropnate
competence. capabilites and skills to 1dentify or
recognise non-comgliance with applhcable laws and
regulations.

we dentified the laws and regulations applicable tc
the Group through discussions with directors and
cther management. and from our cumulative audit
and commercial knowledge and experence cf the
Group and the sector;

we focused on specific laws and regulations which
we considered may have a direct material effect on
the financial statements or the cperations of the
Group including the Companies Act 2006. Taxaticn
Legislation. General Data Protection Rules {(GDPR})
Anti-Bribery Act. Employment Law and Health &
Safety legislation:

- we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws
and regulations identified above through making
enquiries of management and inspecting legal
correspondence and



Independent Auditor's Report

to the Members of RSK Group Limited

identified laws and regulations were communicated
within the sudt team regularly and the team
remained alert to instances of non-comphance
throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the Group's financial
statements to matenal misstatement. including obtaining an
understanding of how fraud might occur. by:

- making enquires of management as to where they
considered there was susceptibllity to fraud. their
knowledge of actual. suspected. and alleged fraud.
and

- considering the internal controls 1n place to mitigate
rsks of fraud and non-compliance with faws and
regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and
override of controls, we

- performed analytical procedures to rdentify any
unusual or unexpected relationships,

- tested jourmal entries to identfy
transactions” and

- Investgated the ratonale behind significant or
unusual transactions.

unusual

In response to the risk of Irreguianties and non-compliance
with laws and regulations. we designed procedures which
included, but were not limited to

- agreeing financial statement disclosures to
underlying supporting documentation.
enguirng of managament as tc actual and potential
litigaticn and claims: and
reviewing correspondence  with HMRC  and
analysing legal costs to ascertain If there have been
instances of nen-comphance with laws and
regulations.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit. there is a risk
that we will not detect all irreqularties including those
leading to a material misstatement in the financial
statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk
increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation
1s removed from the events and transactions reflected in the
financiatl statements. as we will be less kely to become
aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk 15 also
greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather
than error as fraud Involves intentional concealment,
forgery collusion. omission or misrepresentation.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on
the Financial  Reporing  Council's  website  at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilittes.  This  description
forms part of cur auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report 1s made solely to the parent ccmpany's
members, as a bedy, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2008. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the parent company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the parent company and
the parent company's members as a body. for cur audit
work. for this report, or for the epimions we have formed.

Michael Brooke FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of UHY Ross Brooke, Statutory Auditor

Suite | Windrush Court
Abingdon Business Park
Abingdon

Oxfordshire

0OX14 18Y

16 February 2024
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023

Note £000 £ 000

3 1,220,045 795.992

Other external charges (517,899) (314.702)
Net fee Income o 702,146 481.290
Cther operating expenses (194,113) (148 858)
Staff costs 9 {531,373) (346.213)
Other operating income 4 15,677 14 986
Operating (loss)/profit 5  (7.663) 1205
70,828 51939

Amortisation of intangiole assets (54,150} (33.212)
Impairment of intangible assets (1,476) (2.136})
Depreciation {22,806) (15.395)
Amounts written off investments (1,494) -
Profit on disposal of tangible assets 1,435 9
(7.,663) 1.205

Other interest receivable and similar income 7 1,371 B800
tnterest payable and similar expenses 8 (74,344) {39 905)
(72,973) {39 305}

7 (80,636) {38.100}

Taxation 12 {3,721) (4.584)
{84,357) {42.684)

Owners of the company {85,126) (43 287}
Mimonty interests 769 603
154,357) (42.684)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023

£000 £ 000

Loss for the period (84,357) (42 584)
Foreign currency translation gains/{losses) 3,408 331
Other gains/{losses) 322 -
Remeasurement gain/{loss) on defined benefit pension schemes (€8) 165
3,662 496

(80,695) (42 188)

Cwners of the company (81,575) (42.857)
Minonty interests 880 669
{80,695) (42.188)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

RSK Group Limited {Registration number: 03761340)
as at 2 April 2023

Note £000 £ 000

Intangible assets 13 367,166 201.655
Tangible assets 14 113,122 74,377
Investments 15 310 553
480,598 2758.585

Stocks 17 9,709 5685
Debters 18 450,769 292,092
Cash at bank and in handg 19 103,663 110.698
564,141 408 475

Amounts faling due within ong year 20 (447,875) (312 478)

21 {6,189) (3.187)

110,077 92 830

588,675 369 415

- Amounts falling due after more than one year 20 {796,045) (491107}

23 (267) (248)

(205,637) {121.940)

Called up share capital 24 1,913 1,667
Capital redemption reserve 177 177
QOther reserves (1,995) {1.198)
Frofit and loss account (213,561) (125,008)
Translation reserve 5,140 -
(208,328) (124.382)

2,689 2.422

(205,837) (121,940)

Approved and suthonsed by the Board on 168" February 2024 and signed on rts behalf by

1o
A A Ryder

Director
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Company Balance Sheet

RSK Group Limited (Registration number: 03761340)

as at 2 April 2023

Intangihie assets
Tangible assets

Investments

Debtors — due after one year
Debtors — due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand

Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts falling due after more than cne year

Called up share capital
Capital redemption reserve
Fair value reserve

Other reserves

Profit and loss account

Note

13
14
15

18
18
14

20

20

24

£000 £ 000

1,543 3.317

8,583 5,752

310,463 300.700
320,589 310 769
688,232 396.803

51,858 54,869

3,410 2.874

743,500 454548

(74,532) (77.070)
668,968 377476
989,557 638245

(748,561) (454 058)

- (128)

_ 240,998  234.050
1,913 1667

177 177

238,283 228,498

(1,995) (1.198;

2618 4915

' 240,996 234059

The company made a Loss after tax for the financial penod of £459 000 (2022 — Profit of £23 504.000).

Approved and authonised by the Board on 18" February 2024 and signed on its behalf by

Ao |Gy

A A Ryder

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023
Equity attributable to the parent company

At 5 April 2021

{Loss)/profit for the
period

Pension actuanal
gain net of deferred
tax

Other
comprehansive
incame

Total
comprehensive
income

Drndends
Issue of shares

Purchase of own
share capital

Reduction of non-
cantroihng interest

At 3 April 2022

At 4 April 2022

(Loss :profit for the
periad

Researves transfar —
historical translation
gams

Pension actuanal
gan net of defarred
tax

Other
comprehensve
INCorme

Total
comprehensive
income

Dividends
Issue of shares

Purchase of own
share capital

Investment «n non-
controling INterasts

At 2 April 2023

£ 008

1391

1,667

£ 000

1,913

£ 000 £000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
177 {826, 180 313 (75 571y 1919 177 852)
143 287) (43 287) 503 142 5841
- 185 165 165
- - 265 265 B85 331
(42,857} (42,857) 669 {42,188)
- i1 838 1338 1435 12 273
- 275 - 278
(372 - 13721 - (372
- - 268 269
177 (1,198) {125.008} (124,362) 2,422 (121,940}
£000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
177 11198 - {125 008; (124 362} 2422 V1271 940
- . 185 126 185 126) 769 184 357)
. . 1732 (1732 -
. 168} (68} 138)
. 3408 211 3.619 111 3730
. 5,140 (86.715) (81,575) 880 (80,695)
- {1838 (1 838) (595) 12 533
- 246 245
79T, - T (ToT!
- 82 82
177 {1.995) 5,140 (243 ,561) (208.326) 2,689 [205,637)
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023
Equity attributable to the parent company

£000 £ 000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £ 000
At 5 April 2021 1,381 177 139,568 (826) (16.751) 123,559
Profit for the period o - o L - 23504 23504
Other comprehensive income - - 88 930 - . 88.930
Total comprehensive income - - 88,930 - 23,504 112,434
Dividends paid - - - - (1.838) (1838)
Issue of shares 276 - - - - 278
Purchase of own share capital - - - {372) - (372)
At 3 April 2022 1,667 177 228,498 (1,198) 4915 234,059

£ 000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
At 4 April 2022 1.667 177 228 498 (1198} 4915 234.059
Loss for the pernod - - - - (459} (4579”)77
Other comprehensive Income - - 9785 - - 9785
Total comprehensive income - - 9,785 - (459) 9,326
Dividends paid - - - - (1838 {1,838)
Issue of shares 246 - - - - 246
Purchase of cwn share capital - - - (797) - (787)
At 2 April 2023 1,913 177 238,283 (1,995) 2,618 240,996
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023

Loss for the penod

Depreciation. amoartisaton and impairments
Profit on disposal of tangibie assets
Amounts written off Investments

Finance ncaome

Finance costs

Income tax expanse

Increase in stocks

Increase in trade and other debtors

Increase i trade and other creditors

Difference between net pension expense and cash contribution
{Decrease) INcreass n provisions

Cash generated from operations

Incame taxes pawd

Interest recevad

Acquisittion of tangible assels

Proceeds from sale of tangible assets
Acgusition of intangible assets

Acquisition of net assets of acquired antities

Disposal of non-controlling interests

Interest paid

Movement in borrowings

Income from shares in Group undertakings
Oividends paid

Purchase of shares

Cash and cash equivalents atl begirning of penod

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations an cash held

Note

RS R R ]

o

£ 000 £ 000
(84,357) 142 884)
78,432 50 743
{1.435) 8
1,494 -
{1,371) (500
74,344 38 905
3,721 4. 584
70,6828 51839
(708) {375
122,129} i41 582)
27,432 21,703
(49} 122
{22} 87
75,352 31,874
14,028) 4 515;
71,324 27 258
1,235 459
{40,846) (32 872)
6,799 2075
{1.609) 11 185)
(284.312) (80 1801
103 363
(318.630) 1111 4171
(56,747} 141 564
283.626 175173
136 141
{2,533} 227
(551) 187)
223,93t 131,283
{23,375} 47127
108,609 61 248
3,391 234
88,626 1908 609
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023

1 General information Drilling Supples & Hire Services
Limited
The company 1s a private company limited by share DVCR Group Limited

capital. incorporated in England & Wales.

Dynamic Sampling UK Limited
The address of its registered cffice 15

Ecologia Environmental

Spring Lodge Solutions Heldings Limited
172 Chester Road

Che Electrokinetic Limited
Helshy
Cheshire ‘

ntrainment Limited

WAS DAR Entrainment
England Envirolab Limited
For the period ended 2 April 2023, the following Geocore Site Investigations
subsidiaries of the company were entitled to exemption Limited

from audit under s479A of the Companies Act 2006

relating to subsidiary companies Heactand Group Limited

lan Farmer Asscciates (1998}
Limited

JB Site Investigations Limited

Ap:e_s Civil and Structural 07195701 KMGP Limited
Limited

Midrock Construction Limied
Argrennan Estate Limited 13876305

Nature Positive Limited
Argus Envircnmental Limited 02769631

Nan Entry Syst Limited
ATP Architects + Surveyors an Entry systems Limite

Limited 08548558
mite PB Crilling Limited
Binnie & Partners Limited 12999342 ‘
Pelling Limited
BMG Research Holdings
Limited 10238510 Pendragon Holdings Limited
Brown & May Marine Holdings 550641 4 Proeon Holdings Limited
Limited
C J. Associates Geotechnical 01544608 Richard Allitt Associates Limited
Limuted
RSK (Ireland) Limited
CAN Renewables Limited 12543555
RSK Acoustics Limited
CAN Structures Limited 04903359
RSK Integrated Waste Solutions
CAN UK Holdings Limited 04904666 Limited
Carbon Zero Censuling Limited 03320795 RSK Investments Limited
Central Alliance Limited 08887003 RSK Project Services Limited
Cognica Limited 03498533 RSK Radioiogical Limited
Consents Solutions Ltd 07802798 RSK Raw Limited
RSK Stats Environmental Health
A t
Et(;pe!and Wedge Associates 07709882 and Safety Limited
i RSKW Lic
Cumbria Access Services 03366725

Lirmited

06045403

10212690

04143018

07330158

04183422

06245436

04487136

04042825

SC162874

03661447

10057964

04249588

08250303

12795484

03052061

11533592

02551068

10212776

11306634

03255404

05857689

07102436

13412468

04500781

02801871

06367880

12071477

04638175

06548422
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Silcock Leedham Group Ltd 07470740
Spencer ECA Group Limited 12025776
TBF Contracting Limited 09762168
Terraffix Soil Selutions Limited 11795873
Thus Consultants Limited 12258876
o et e
Up And Under Group Limited 054357393
Up And Under Limited 02434409
Waldrams Limited 08809725
Watertrain Acquisiticns Limited 08571292

2 Accounting Policies

Summary of significant accounting policies
and key accounting estimates

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparaticn
of these financiat statements are sat nut below These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented. unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS} 102 'The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland’ and the Companies Act 2006.

These financial statements have been prepared using the
historical cost convention except that as disclosed in the
accounting policies certain items are shown at fair value,

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£)
which is the functional currency of the Group and rocunded
to the nearest £000 for presentation purposes.

Na Profit and Loss account 1s presented for the parent
company as permitted by secticn 408 of the Companies
Act 2006.

The company has taken advantage of exemptions
conferred by FRS 102 not to disclose transactions between
wholly owned members of the Group.

The Group consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of RSK Group Limited and entities
controlled by RSK Group Limited (its subsidiaries) made
up to 2 April 2023. The Group controls an entity when the
Group has the power to govern the financial and cperating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. Subsidianes are fully consolidated from the date
on which control 1s transferred to the Group. They are
decensalidated from the date that control ceases.

The interest of minority interests in the acquiree is initially
measured at the minonty interest’'s proportion of the net fair
value of the assets and liabilities recognised. Where
mincrity interests are acquired, the excess of cost over the
vaiue of the minonty interest acquired 15 recorded in equity.

Where a subsidiary has different accounting policies to the
Group. adjustments are made to those subsidiary financial
statements to apply the Greup's accounting policies when
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Al intra-
Group transactions balances. income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

The accounting policies described in this secticn apply to
the financial statements of both the Group and the parent
company (where applicable) except where specified
otherwise.

Subsidiary undertakings are included using the acquisition
method of accounting. Under this method the Group profit
and loss account and statement of cashflows include the
results and cashflows of subsidiaries from the date of
acquisition and to the date of sale cutside the Group in the
case of disposals of subsidianes The purchase
consideration has been allocated to the assets and
liabilities on the basis of fair value at the date of
acquisition.

The cansideration for each acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values at acquisition date of assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity
instruments 1ssued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquired plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination
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When a business combination agreement provides for an
adjustment to the cost of the combination contingent on
future events. the Group includes the estimated amount of
that adjustment in the cost of the combination at the
acquisition date if the adjustment 1s probable and can be
measured reliadly. Where the contingent consideration 1s
not considered probable or cannot be reliably measured
but subsequently becomes probable and measuratie or
where contingent consideration previously measured is
adjusted. the amounts are recognised as an adjustment tc
the cost of the business combination.

Goodwill 1s capitalised. classified as an asset ¢n the
balance sheet and amoertised on a straight-ine basis over
its useful economic Iife. It is reviewed for iImpairment at the
end of the first full financial year following the acquisition
and in other perieds if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

if a subsidiary. associate or business is subseguently sold
or closed. any gcodwill arising on acquisition that was
written off directly to reserves ar that has not been
amertised through the profit and loss account 1s taken into
account in determining the profit or loss on sale or closure.

In adopting the going concern basis for preparnng the
financial statement, the Directors have considered.
amongst other matters. the Group's principal risks and
uncertainties as set of in the Strategic Report.

The Group has established contracts and master service
agreements with several customers across a wide range of
sectors and markets and has a significant pipeline of
committed work. tenders in progress and opportunities.
The Directors believe that the Group will continue to
manage 'ts business risks successfully despite uncertain
economic conditions in same business sectors and
countries,

The Group has centralised treasury arrangements and so
shares banking arrangements with its subsidiarnes. The
Group completed a refinancing with funds managed by
Ares Management in July 2021 and at this time the funds
comprised a £500m commutted acquisition facility and a
£500m incremental acquisttion facility. A £250m upsize to
the commutted acquisition facility from the incremental
acquisition facility was completed in May 2022 As at 2nd
April 2023 the funds comprised a £750m committed
acquisition faciity and a £250m uncommitted acquisition
faciity. A further £250m upsize was completed in May
2023. The Group had a £40m revclving credit facility with
NatWest bank. which was increased to £50m in May 2023.

The Group agreed an Incremental Facllity of 75 000 00C
Australian Dollars in December 2022, A further Incremental

Facility of 41,000 000 Australian Dollars was agreed in
August 2023.

These facilities will predominantly finance acquisitive
growth and associated working capital requirements.

The Group's primary covenant 's Adjusted Leverage (the
ratio of an Adjusted EBITDA-based metric to net debt), on
its debt facility. The covenant 1s measurad monthly on a
“iast twelve month” basis, with the target ratio reducing
over time. The directors have reviewed and are
comfortable with the level of headroom on the covenant In
the debt facilities. The Group 1s susceptible to fluctuations
in interest rates and sensitivity analysis has been
performed as detatled in the strategic report, which
demonstrated that in all modelled scenarios. the Group
would still be within their covenants and would have
sufficient cash te repay the interest.

After reviewing the Group's net iapilities position and
Company's net asset pesition their cash balances and
projected cash flows, borrowing facilites and the sensitivity
analysis as described above, the directars believe that the
Group and the Company have adequate resources to
continue to meet its financing requirements and comply
with covenants and continue operations for the foreseeable
future. being a penod of at ieast twelve manths after the
date on which the report and financial statements are
signed. Accordingly, they have continuad to adopt a going
concern basis in the preparation of the annual report and
financial statements.

The Group s significant accounting policies under FRS 102
have been set by management. The application of these
policies requires management to make assumptions and
estimates about future events. The resulting accounting
estimates will. by definttion, differ fram the actual results.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors.
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

Under FRS 102, an estimate or judgement may be
considered critical f it invelves matters that are highly
uncertain or where different estimation methcds could
reasanably have been used. orif changes in the estimate
that would have a material impact on the Group's results
are likely to occur fram peried to period.

In preparing the financial statements. no judgemeants have
been made In the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies that have hac a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements. other than
those mvolving estimations as detailed below.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Investments 10 subsidianes are held on the Company
Balance Sheet at fair value, based on the drrectors’
assessment. which contains an element of astimation
uncertainty. Methodology for determining fair value 1s
described more fully in accounting policies on pages 2% and
30 The carrying amount 1s £310463,000 (2022
300.700.000).

The Group s revenue policies (set out in the revenue
recognition pelicy below) are fundamental to how the
Group values the work it has carried out in each reporting
percd. Contracts are assessed on a contract-by-contract
basis. and estmations are made regarding amounts not
invoiced based on the stage of compietion of the service.
The carrying amount is £148.832 000 (2022 £92 121,000).

The Group reviews its intangible assets and goodwill on an
annual basis to determine if there 1s any indication of
impairment. If any indication exists, the Group will estimate
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (CGU)
to which the asset beiongs The estimate of impairment will
then be based on the future cash fliows from the CGU
discounted at appropriate discount rates. iImpairment on
goodwill has been charged dunng the pencd of £1,475,000
(2022 £2.136.000) The carrying amount of goodwill 1s
£364 517.000 (2022' £197.450,000).

The Group operates two defined benefit pension schemes.
The net positicn of the schemes are determingd by
actuaries using assumptions for mertaiity rates. discount
rates. inflation and future pension Increases. The final
position of the schame will anly be known with certainty
once the last benefit has been paid out. The carrying
amount is £2587.000 (2022 £248 000). Please see note 23
for further details.

Creddtars includes £55.627.000 {2022 £56,651.000) in
respect of deferred consideration arising from business
combinations. of which £33 082 000 (2022. £33.746,G00)
1s due within one year and £26 545 000 {2022,

£22 805.000) due after one year. A substantial portion of
these figures are contingent consideration in respect of
earnout arrangements, Contingent consideration has been
provided for in the above figures and in the cost of the
Investments. to the extent that it 1s probable and can be
measured reliably, with the remainder. which the directors
consider too remote to provide for. being disclosed as a
contingent labiiity — see note 29. These figures contain a

degree of estimation uncertainty due to the inherent
uncertamty in estimating future years’ profitability

Turnover ccmprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the provision of services in the
ardinary course of the Greoup's activities. Turnover is
shown net of sales/value added tax, returns. rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

In respect of long-term contracts for on-going services.
turnaver represents the value of work done in the year.
including estimates of amounts not invoiced. Turnover in
respect of long-term contracts and coniracts for on-going
services s recognised by reference to the stage of
compietion.

Turnover from a contract to provide services I1s recognised
In the period in which the services are provided In
accordance with the stage of completion of the contract
when all of the foliowing conditions are satisfied

e« the amount of turnover can be measured reliably.

s 1ts probable that the Group will receive the
consideration due under the contract.

« the stage of completicn of the contract at the end of
the reporting period can be measured reliably. and

* the costs incurred and the costs to complete the
contract can be measured reliably.

Long-term contracts are assessed on a contract-by-
contract basis ancg reflected in the profit and loss account
by recording turnover and related costs as contract activity
progresses. Turnover reprasents the value of work done in
the year, including estmates of amounts not mvaiced. and
1s recognised by reference to the stage of compietion.
Operating profit includes attriputable profit on long-term
completed contracts and amounts recoverable on
uncompleted contracts the latier being included within
debtors due within cne year.

Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the
asset recaeived or receivable when there 1s reasonable
assurance that the grant canditions will be met, and the
grants will be received.

The amount of grants recognised in the financial
statements 1s set out In Note 6.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method and dividend income 1s recognised as the Group's
right to receive payment 1s established.
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Research and development expenditure is charged against
profits in the year in which 1t 15 incurred, unless it meets the
criteria for capitalisation as set out in FRS 102 Section 18
‘Intangible Assets other than Goodwill'.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at
the functicnal currency rate prevailing at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies. are retranslated into the respective
functional currency cf the entity at the rates prevailing on
the reporting penod date. Non-menetary items carried at
fair value that are dencminated n foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevaling on the initial transaction
dates.

Non-monetary items measured 1n terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

The results of cverseas operations are transfated at the
average rates of exchange during the year and their
balance sheets at the rates prevailing at the balance shaet
date. Exchange differences arising on translation of the
opening net assets and results of overseas operations and
on foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they
hedge the Group s Investment in such operations, are
reporled in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and
Losses.

The tax expense for the penod comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax s recognised in the profit and loss
account, except that a change attributable tg an item of
income and expense recognised as other comprehensive
income or to an item recognised directly in equity is alse
recognised in other comprehensive iIncome or directly in
equity respectively.

Current tax

The current income tax charge 1s calculated on the basis of
tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date 1n the countries where the
Group operates and generates taxable income.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all
timing differences that have onginated but not reversed by
the balance sheet date except that

+« The recognition of deferred tax assets is imited to the
extent that it is provable that they will be recoverad
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other
future taxable profits. and

= Any deferred tax batances are reversed if and when
all conditions for retaining associated tax balances
have been met.

Deferred tax balances are not recognised in respect of
permanent differences except in respect of husiness
combinations, when deferred tax 1s recognised on the
differences between the fair values of assets acquired andg
the future tax deductions avallable for them and the
different between the fair value of liabilities acquired and
the amount that will be assessed for tax. Deferred tax 1s
determined using tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are
recognised when it 1s probabie that they will be recovered
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future
taxable profits.

Investments i equity shares which are publicly traded or
where the fair value can be measured reliably are nitially
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Investments in equity shares
which are not publicly traded and where fair value cannot
be measured reliably are measured at cost less
Impairment.

Interest income on dabt securities, where applicable, i1s
recognised in income using the effective interest method.
Dwvidends on equity securities are recognised in income
whan receivable.

Investments in subsidiaries are included on the Company
Balance Sheet at fair value, The most recent valuation was
performed on 2 Aprit 2023 and the directors determined
the method of vatuation.

Estimation methodology

The fair value assessment for RSK Environment Limited,
being the principal, matenal subsidiary. 1s based on a
multiple times the aggregated last-12-months’ EBITDA
figures for the companies In this sub-Group (except for
newly acquired companies in the financial year. which are
valued based on the price paid for them in the year)
Adjusted EBITDA I1s used as the basis for the revaluation
as businasses are acquired based on this metric. Adjusted
EBITDA inciudes adjustments for exceptional and non-
recurring items, including management charges.
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The multiple used in the valuation is determined by
Management. with guidance from independent corpcrate
finance experts who base multiples on market standards
from listed and unlisted companes.

Adjusted EBITDA multiphed by the multiple gives the
‘Enterprise Value' for that subsidiary. This is adjusted to
calculate the ‘Equity Value by adding the fair value of
freehold property, cash and cash equivalents and
deducting debt and minonty interasts. The Equity Value is
used as the fair value for the purpose of remeasuring the
financial assets, The total Equity Value 1s compared to the
brought forward value with gains/losses recorded in other
comprehensive income. Any losses which would take the
revalued investmant below cost are expensed to the profit
and loss account,

The gain in the year of £9,785 000 is attnbutable to a
combination of

a) changes in assumptions including the EBITDA
multiples,

b) changes in market condtions, and

c) the performance of the indwdual underlying

companies,

The fair value is £310.4563.000 {2022. £300.700.000),
being the directars assessment of the amount for which
these assets could be exchanged. between
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length
tfransactinn

Sensitivity

Because the multples used to reach the valuation are a
matter of judgement and subject to a high degree of
uncertainty management have performed a sensitivity
analysis to demonstrate the effect on the valuation of using
different multiples. tf the multiples were to
increase/decrease by 10% this would give rise to a
corresponding increase/decrease of £81,741.000 to the
total fair value figure

Goedwlll ansing on the acquisition of an entity represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
Interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets.
lizbilities and contingant liabilities of the entity reccgnised
at the date cf acquisition. Goodwlll is inttiglly recognised as
an asset at cost and is subseguently measured at cost less
accumulated amaortisation and accumulated imparrment
losses. Goodwill is held in the currency of the acquired
entity and revalued o the closing rate at each reporting
period date

Negative goodwill ansing on an acquisition 1s recognised
on the face of the balance sheet on the acquisition date
and subsequently the excess up to the fair value af non-
monetary assets acquired is recognised in profit or loss in
the periods In which the non-monetary assets are

recovered

Development costs relating to the develcpment of new
service lines are capitalised when these costs result in the
improvement of the Group's capability in this area.

Other research costs are written off to the profit and loss
account in the year in which they are incurred

Amortisation Is provided on intangibie assets so as o write
off the cost. less any estimated residual value. over their
useful Ife as follows:

Asset class Amortisation method and rate

Goedwill 3 years to 10 years straight kne

Development costs 5 years straight hne

In the year of acquisition a full year's goodwill amortisation
1s provided for in the P&L for each company.

Tangible assets are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumuiated impairment
losses

The cost of tangible assets includes directly attributable
incremental costs incurred in their acquisition and
nstallaticn.

Depreciation

Depreciaticn 15 charged so as to wnte off the cost of
assets other than land and properties under construction
over their estimated useful lives as follows

Asset class Depreciation method and rate

Leasshold property over the period of the lease

Plant and machinery 5% to 33% per annum of cost

Furniture. fitings. IT

. 15% to 33% per annum of cost
and equipment

Motor vehicles 25% straight line basis

Assets in the course of construction

Assets in the course of construction are stated at cost.
Cost includes any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be of
operating In the manner intended by management. These
assets are not depreciated unti they are available for use
and are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
call deposits, and other shert-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and are subject tc an insignificant risk cf change in
value.

Trade debtors are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business.

Trade debtors are recognised initially at the transaction
price They are supsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. less provision for
impairment. A provision for the impairment of trade debtors
1 established when there 1s objective evidence that the
Group will not be agle to collect all amounts due according
to the onginal terms of the recevables.

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling
price less costs to complete and sell.

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
direct materials and, where applcable direct iabour costs
and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. At
each reporting date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If
stocks are impaired the carrying amount 1s reduced tc its
selling price less costs to complete and seli the
impairment l0ss 15 recognised immediately in profit or loss,

Trade creditors are agbligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current
liabiities if the Group does not have an unconditional right,
at the end of the reporting periad tc defer settlement of the
creditor for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
If there 1s an uncondiicnal right to defer settiement for at
least twelve months after the reporting date. they are
presented as non-current habilites.

Creditors are recognised initially at the transaction price
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings are intially recorded at fair
value net of transaction costs. Interest-bearing borrowings
are subsequently carned at amortised cost, with the
differance between the proceeds. net of transaction costs.
and the amount due on redemption being recogrused as a

charge tc the Profit and Loss Account over the pericd of
the relevant borrowing.

Interest expense 1s recognised on the basis cf the effective
interest method and s included in interest payable and
simiiar charges.

Borrowings are classified as current labilites unless the
Group has an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the
lrability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has an
obligation at the reparting date as a result of a past event,
it 1s probable that the Group will be reguired to settle that
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a
provision 1s the Group's best estimate at the balance sheet
date of the likely future economic outflows required to
settie the obligation.

Leases n which substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownershp are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating ieases. Payments made under operating leases
are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis aver
the period of the lease

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. Assets held under
finance leases are recognised at the lower of their farr
value at inception of the lease and the present value of the
minimum lease payments These assets are depreciated
cn a straight-ine basis over the shorter of the useful life of
the asset and the lease term. The corresponding liability ta
the lessor is included in the Balance Sheet as a finance
lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance costs in
the Profit and Loss Account and reduction of the lease
cbhgation $0 as to achieve a constant penodic rate of
interest on the remaing balance of the liability.

Ordmary shares are classified as eguity. Equity
instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or
other resources recelved or receivable, net of the direct
costs of Issuing the equity instruments. If payment s
deferred and the time value of money is matenal. the initial
measurement 1s on a present value basis
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Dividend distributions to the company's sharehalders are
recognised In the Statement of Changes in Equity in the
reporting period in which the dividends are declared.

The Group has an established Emplcyee Benefit Trust
("EBT"} to which it is the sponsoring entity. Notwithstanding
the legal duties of the trustees the Group considers that it
has 'de facto' control The EBT iIs accounted for as assets
and liabilities of the Group and is included in the
consclidated and Company financial statements. The
Group's equity instruments held by the EBT are accounted
for as iIf they were the Group's own eguity and are treated
as treasury shares. No gain cr loss is recogmised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive iIncome on the purchase
sale or cancellation of the Group's own equity held by the
EBT.

Short term benefits

Short term benefits. including holiday pay and other similar
non-monetary benefits. are recognised as an expense in
the period 1in which the service 1s received.

Pensions

The Group has bath defined benefit and defined
contribution schemes.

Defined benefit schemes are operated for the employees
of one of its UK subsidiaries and a German subsidiary. The
scheme for the UK subsidiary 1s now closed and no service
cast s incurred. The schemes are fundad. with the assets
of the schemas held separately from those of the Group In
separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme
assets are measured at farr value and liabilites are
measurad on an actuanal basis using the projected unit
method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current
rate of return on & high-quality corporate bond of
equivalent currency and term to scheme liabilities. The
actuanal valuations are cbtained triennially. The resultant
defined benefit asset or liability. net of the related deferred
tax 1s presented separately after other net assets on the
face of the balance sheet. Actuanal gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments and changes In
actuanal assumptions are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income. These amouints together with the
return on plan assets, less amounts included In net
interest. are disclosed as ‘Pension actuanal gain net of
deferred tax

The Group contributes to a Group Personal Pension Plan
various stakeholder schemes and to employees’ personal
pension ptans. For these defined contribution schemes the
amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of
pension costs is the contributions payable in the perod.
Differences between contributions payable in the period
and contributions actually paid are shown as either other
creditors or prepayments in the balance sheet.

Financial assets

Basic financial assels. including trade and other
receivables, loans recervable from other Group companies
investments in subsidiary companies and cash and cash
equivalents, are initially recegnised at transaction price,
unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction.
where the transaction is measured at the present value of
future receipts discounted at the market rate of interest.
Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest methed.

Financial liabilities

Basic financial labilities. including trade and other
payables. bank lcans. hire purchase contracts and leans
payable to other Group companies are nitiaily recognised
at transaction price. uniess the arrangement constitutes a
financing transaction. where the debt instrument is
measured at the present value of future payments
discounted at the market rate of interest,

Debt instruments are subsequently carred at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

32



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023

3 Revenue

The analysis of the Group's turnover for the period by market 1s as follows.

UK

Rest of world

The majority of the Group's turnover is derved from rendering of services.

4 Other operating income

The analysis of the Group's other operating income for the pericd 1s as follows

Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credits

Government Grants

Other operating Income

5 Operating profit

Arrived at after charging/(crediting)

Research and devejopment expense
Depreciation - owned
Depreciation - leased
Amortisation expehse

Impairment of intangible assets

Amounts written off iInvestments
Foreign exchange losses

Operating lease expense

Profit on disposal an of tangible assets

Stock provisions

£000 £ 000
957,776 625.262
262,269 170 730

1,220,045 795.992
£ 000 £ 000
7,934 7 363
6,353 8.139
1,390 1.484

15,677 14,985

£ 000 £ 000

42,829 37 082

14,659 11,680

8,147 3,713

54,149 33.212

1,476 2,136

1,494 -

2,087 228

6,168 6.044

(1,435) (2
76

580
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6 Government grants

The amount of grants recognised in the financial statements was £6.353,000 (2022 - £6.139,000). ansing in the normai

course cf business working an prajects which are government funded.

7 Other interest receivable and similar income

Interest iIncome on bank deposits
Dividend income

Other finance income

8 Interest payable and similar expenses

Interest payable on bank overdrafts and borrowings
Relfed-up interest on borrowings

Refinancing costs

Interest expense on other finance habihties

Interest on obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracls

9 Staff costs

The aggregate payroll costs (including directers' remuneraticn) were as follows.

Wages and salares
Social security costs
Penston costs. defined contribution scheme

Other benefit costs

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors)
during the period analysed by category was as follows

Management and administration

Technical and professional

£000 £ 000
211 65
136 141

1,024 354

1,371 600

£ 000 £ 000

54,370 24.275

9,829 £.104

7,038 7 655

1,916 1.288

1,191 585

74,344 39 905

£ 000 £ 000

465,791 304.920

39,082 24 044

16,331 10 980

. 1o1es = 6289
531,373 346.213

2023 2022

No. No.

1,993 1.343
853 5442
10,532 7 785
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10 Directors’ remuneration

The directors’ remuneration for the period was as follows

£ 000 £ 000
Remuneration 3,580 2.241
Contributions paid to money purchase schemes 179 90

3,759 2.331

Excluded from the above table is remuneration for three directors who were paid by subsidiary companies, with no recharge
being made to RSK Group Limited. Total remuneration for these three directors was £274 000 (2022 £163.000)

During the penod the number of directors who were receliving benefits and share incentives was as follows

No. No
Accruing benefits under money purchase pension scheme 12 1
In respect of the highest paid director
£ 000 £ 000
Remuneration 500 800
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes 25 G
- [] -
11 Auditors' remuneration
£ 000 £ 000
Audit of these financial statements 300 250
Audit of the financial statements of subsidianes of the company pursuant to
legslation 1,000 o 675
.. 1300 925
Taxation compliance sarvices 150 250
Other non-audit services 50 125

200 375
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12 Taxation

Tax charged/(credited) in the income statemeant

UK corporation tax

Foreign tax

Withholding tax

Adjustments 1n respect to prior years

Total current income tax

Ansing from originaticn and reversal of iming differences
Impact of change in tax rate

Adjustments in respect of previous years

£ 000

1,281
5,788

657
{621)
7,105

{1,657)
31

(1,758) _

(3,384)

Tax expense in the Income statement

The standard rate of UK corporation tax 1s 19% and this tock effect from 1 Apri 2017,

3,721

£ 000

588
2,064
478
(333)

2,797

2.029
(423)

_ 181

1,787
4,584

On 3 March 2021. the UK Government announced an increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate from 19% to 25%.
The change will come into effect from 1 Aprid 2023. This change is reflected as appropnate in the deferred tax calculations

within these financial statements

Adjustments in relation to the prior year matenially relate to the impact of changing capital allowance treatments from the
foracasted position. Movements in unrecognised deferred taxes relate to additional losses being created in the period

which have not been reccgnised on the balance sheet.

The UK Government, under recommendation from the Organisatien for Economic Co-operation and Development

{"OECD"y has mplemented legislation i relation to the Base Ercsicn and Profit Shifting ("BEPS") Pillar Two to create a
Mirimum Tax Directive globally. In accordance with the rules. the RSK Group has performed an impact assessment of its

global tax position to assess the potential impact of these rules which are effective in 2024, Based on this impact

assessment it is expected that safe harbour rules will apply for the transitional period for the majarity of jurisdiction and
as such. it 1s expected that the provisions will have an immaterial effect on the Groups tax position.
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for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023

12 Taxation (continued)

The differences are reconciled below

Loss before tax

Corporation tax at standard rate

Effect of expense not deductible in determining taxable profit (tax loss)
Income not taxable

Deferred tax expense/{credit) from unrecognised tax loss or credit
Decrease n UK and foreign current tax from adjustment for prier periods

Tax increase arising from overseas tax suffered/expensed

Other tax effects for reconciliation between accounting profit and tax
(income)/expense

Remeasurement of deferred tax - change in UK tax rate

Total tax charge

£ 000 £ 000
(80,636) (38 100
(15,321} {7 239)
11,224 7 259
(705) (7
12,287 5 701
(2,42) (152)
509 393
(1,852) (948)
- (423)

3,721 4584
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13 Intangible assets

Group

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000
At 4 April 2022 278 507 10.052 288,559
Additions 208,793 185 208,978
Acqguired through business combinations 1.806 418 2,224
Adjustments tc fair value 12,608 - 12,608
Disposals {(1.782) (8) (1,790)
Currency retranslation 246 . 246
At 2 April 2023 500178 10 647 510,825
Atd Apnf 2022 81.067 5847 86,904
Acquired through business cambinations 1.731 181 1,912
Amortisation charge 52179 1970 54,149
Impairment loss 1476 - 1,476
Disposals (882) - (882)
Currency retranslation 100 - 100
At 2 April 2023 135 651 ) 7998 143,659
At 2 Apri 2023 364 517 2649 367,166
Atd Aprit 2022 197.450 4.205 201,655

Development costs relate to a number of new service lines including estakblishing a waste management capability,
develcping a methodology 1o reuse waste products in agriculture developing treatment processes to recover valuable
assets from waste products and developing a model to identify and delineate certain pollutants to enable effective
remediation,

Seme of the development projects are revenue generating in the year and amortisation s being charged.
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13 Intangible Fixed Assets (continued)

Company

£ 000 £000
At 4 April 2022 8.873 8,873
Additions - -
At 2 April 2023 8.873 8,873
At 4 April 2022 5 556 5,556
Amortisation charge 1774 1,774
At2 April 2023 7.330 7,330
At 2 Aprit 2023 1543 1,543
At 4 April 2022 3.317 3,317

Development costs relate to a number of new service lines including establishing a waste management capability.
developing a mothedology to reuse waste products in aanculture, developing treatment processes to recover valuable
assets from waste preoducts and developing a model to identify and delineate certain poilutants to enable eftective
remediation.

The development projects are revenue generating in the year and amortisation is being charged,
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14 Tangible assets

Group

Atd April 2022

Reclassification between

catagories

Acquired through
business combinations

Additions
Disposals
Currency retranslation

At 2 Aprl 2023

At 4 Apnl 2022
Acquired through
business combinations
Charge for the pericd
Elminated or disposal
Currency retranslation

At 2 April 2023

At 2 April 2023
At 4 April 2022

17 080

£000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
25173 96.743 35,640 1.137 158,693
1.354 25 - (1.379) -
5.957 36.125 8918 - 51,000
4311 20.548 14 429 1,778 41,167
(2.931) (6.857) (4 896} (127) (14,811)
755 136 137 23 1,051

34 619 146 820 54,228 1,433 237,100
8113 57,900 18303 - 84,316
1445 19800 4278 - 25,523
1600 13.870 7.336 - 22,806
(1.233) (4 872) (3.228) - (9,333)
805 (12) (127) - 666
10730 86.586 26.562 - 123,378
23 889 60 134 27 566 1433 113,122
17.337 1137 74,377

Included within the net book value of land and buildings above is £11 646,315 {restated 2022 - £5.865.690) in respect of
leasehold land and buildings and £12.253.438 (restated 2022 - £11.194 394) in respact of freehold land and buidings.

The net carrying amcunt of tangible assets includes the following amounts 1n respect of assets held under finance leases

and hire purchase contracts

Motar vehicles fixtures fittings and equipment

£ 000

32,612

£ 000

19.397
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14 Tangible Assets (continued)

Company

At 4 Aprl 2022

Reclassification between
categories

Additions
Disposals
At 2 April 2023

At 4 Apnil 2022
Charge for the penod
Eliminated on disposal

At 2 April 2023

At 2 Apnl 2023
At 4 Aprl 2022

1.800

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
3.908 2637 5,985 928 13,458
1354 25 - {1378) .
2 046 737 232 1.723 4,738
- (50} (578) (4) {632}

7 308 3.349 5639 1268 17,564
2108 1598 3.000 - 6,706
873 801 833 - 2,357

- (13) (69) - (82)

2 981 2,186 3814 - 8,981
4327 1163 1825 1.268 8,583
1.039 2 985 928 6,752

Included within the net book value of land and buildings above 1s £3.181.000 (2022 - £653.000) i respect of feasehold

land and buildings and £1,146,000 (2022 - £1.145,000) in respect of freehold land and bulldings.

The net carrying amount of tangible assets includes the following amounts in respect of assets held under finance leases

and hire purchase contracts.

Motor vehicles, fixtures. fittings and equipment

£ 000
1,824

£000
2.887
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15 Investments

Group

Investments

£ 000 £ 000

310 583

Details of the investments in which the company or one its subsidiaries holds 20% or mare of the nominal value of any class

of share capital are as follows

4AP-Gegteknik A/S

AA Mitieu-en Adviesbureau BV (Adverbo)

Absolute Solar and Wind Ltd

Acies Civil and Structural Limited
Acorn Chemcal Services Limited
ADAS Silverdale Limited

ADEV Environnemeant SAS
Advantage RSK Limited
Advantage RSK Ltd

Althoff & Lang GmbH

Amberco BvBa

Amphos 21 Consulting Chile LTDA
Amphos 21 Consulting Peru Sac
Amphos 21 Consulting $.L
Amphos 21 Group S.L.
Argrennan Estate Limted

Argus Envirgnmental Limited

ATP Architects + Surveyors Limited

Azerbaljan Environment and Technology

Centre Limited

Denmark

Netherlands

Scotland

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & YWales
France

England & Wales
Israel

Germany
Belgium

Chite

Peru

Spamn

Spain

England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

Scotland

Geotechnical services
Environmental Consultancy

Engineering and construction
services

Structural Engineering
Environmental services
Environmental consultancy
Environmental Consultancy
Quantity surveyors
Quantity surveyors
Environmental consultancy
Dormant

Environmental consultancy
Environmental consuitancy
Environmental consuftancy
Enviranmental consultancy
Property management
Nen-trading

Architectural services

Environmental Consulting

100%

51%

100%

100%

100%

91.8%

100%

82 2%

82.2%

100%

99.67%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Azerbaijan Environmental Services MMC

BGT Hungaria Kornyezettechnologiai
Korlatolt Felelossegu Tarsasag

Binme & Partners Limited

Bimnies Hong Kong Limited

Binnies Philippines Limited

Binnies Shanzhen Limited

Binnies Singapore Limited

Binmes UK Limited

BMG Research Heldings Limited

BMG Research Ltd

Brown & May Marine Holdings Limited

Brown & May Marine Limited

BTS Group Limited

Bullding Sciences Limited

C.J. Associates Geotechnical Ltd
C.R. Civil Engineering Limited
Calibrate Group Limited
Calibrate Inc Ltd

Caliprate Leasing Limited
Catibrate Mamntenance Ltd

CAN Geotechnical Limited
CAN Limited

CAN London Limited

CAN Renewables

CAN Structures Limited

CAN UK Haldings Limited
Carbon Zerc Caonsulting Limited

CBEC Eco Engmeening UK Limited

Azerbayan

Hungary

England & Wales

Hong Kong

Philippines

China

Singapore

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

Scotland

Environmental Consuiting

Environmental Consulting

Holding company

Engineering and construction
services

Consultancy
Engineering services

Engineering and construction
services

Engineering and construction
services

Holding company
Research
Holding company

Marine environmental
consultancy

Vegetation management
Non-trading

Drilling and site iInvestigations
Engineering services
Holding company
Environmental consuitancy
Environmental cansuitancy
Environmental consultancy
Geatechnical services
Dormant

Dormant

Renewables maintenance
Construction services
Halding cempany
Enviranmental consultancy

Eco-Engineenng

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%
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Ceetech Limited

Centara Bureau Services Limited

Centara Engineering Services Limited

Centara Greoup Limited

Centara Limited

Central Alliance {Holdings) Limited
Central Allance Pre Construction Ltd

Certus Utility Consulting Limited

Cognica Limited

Consent Solutions Limited

Copeland Wedge Associates Lid

Copper Consultancy Limited
CRCE Plant Limited

CS2 Limited

Cumbria Access Services Limited

CX Energy Ltd
CX Group Holdings Limited

CX Utilties Linmted

Dermot Casey Hire & Sales Limited
Dermot Casey Tree Care Limited

Dionysus Group PTY Limited (t/a Western

Project Services)

Dr Tilmanns & Partner GmbH
Drithing Supplies UK Limited
DVCR Group Limited

Dynamic Sampling UK Limited

Ecologia Environmental Sclutions Holdings

Limited

Ecologia Envircnmental Solutions Limited

Ecologia Enwvironmental Solutions SRL

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wazles
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Ireland

Irejand

Australia

Germany
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

Italy

Mechanical engineering firm
Environmental consultancy
Engineering services
Haiding company
Environmental consultancy
Holding company

Site Investigation services

Utiiities consultancy
Construction services

Consenting services
Engineering consultancy
Strategic communications

Plant hire

Bullding and quantty surveyors

Specialist services
Construcbon consultancy
Hoiding company
Utilities service provider
Arboricultural services

Arboricultural services
Environmental Consultancy

Environmental consuitancy
Drilling services
Holding company

Drilling and site investigations
Halding company

Environmental Consultancy

Site nvestigation services

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

84.62%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

55%
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Economic Resesarch Services Limited

EDP Consultants Limited
EDP Consultants Hong Kong Limited
EDP Consultants PTY Limited

EDP Heazlth. Safety and Environmental
Consultants Limited

EDP Japan GK

EDP Singapecre PTE Limited
Ei Group Limited

Eib Growth Services Limited

Eib Professional Services Limited

Electrokinetic Limited

Entrammment Limited

Enwvireau Limited

Enviresearch Limited

Enviresearch Portugal Unipessoal Lda
Enviresearch Technologres Limited
Envirofiow Management Limited
Envirolab Limited

Environmental Strategical Advice BV
Fellows Construction Consultants Ltd
Fishtek Limited

FR Consultants Limited

Geocore Site Investigations Limited
GeoExperts GmbH

Geotechnical and Structural Services
(Holdings) Linmted

Geotechnical and Structural Services
Limited

Gold Coast Water Collective Pty Ltd

England & Wales

England & Wales
Hong Kong

Austraha

England & Wales

Japan
Singapore
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Portugal

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Belgium

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

Australia

Economic development
consultancy

Environmental services
Environmental services

Envircnmental services

Environmental services

Environmental services
Environmental services
Holding company
Dormant company

Environmental consuttancy

Engineering construction and

development

Scientific and technical services

Environmental censultancy
Enviranmental consultancy
Regulatory services
Technology services
Business support services
Drainage services
Environmental consultancy
Construction consulting
Marine consultancy

Risk consultancy

Site investigation services

Environmental engineering

Holding company

Holding company

Economic development
consuitancy

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

98%

109%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

99.5%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Gridflex Ltd

Ground Heat Instaliations Limited

Hanways Insurance Company Limited

Hawkins Electrical Holdings Limited
Hawkins Electrical Limited
Headland Archaeology (UK) Limited

Headland Group Limited

Hollywood Civil Engineering Limited

Hydrofix Limited

lan Farmer Associates (1998) Ltd
Inis Environmental Consultants
Interactive Comms Limited

Irsh Drilling Limitad

J & A Peling Limited

JB Site Investigations Limited
KMGP Ltd

Leap Environmental Limited

MG Scaffolding (Oxford) Limited
Midrock Construction Limited
Milestone Communications Limrted
Minerex Environmental Limited
MSS Consulting Limited

MSS Environmental Limited

MSS Facilities Services Ltd

MSS Group Limited

MWH Constructors Limited

MWH Farrer Limited

MWH Limited

England & Wales
England & Wales
Guernsey
England & Wales
England & Wales
Scotland

Scotland

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales
Iretand

Irefand

Ireland

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Ireland

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

Construction consultancy
Renewable heat solutions
Insurance services
Holding company
Electrical service provider
Archaeoicgical services
Holding company

Civil and mechanical
engineering

Marine geoscience consultancy

Site investigation services
Environmental consultancy
Engineering consultancy
Mineral exploration

Faciities management

Drilling and site investigations

Engineering consultancy
Environmental consuitancy
Scaffolding company
Holding company
Engineering consultancy
Environmental consultancy
Environmental services
Environmental services
Enviranmental services
Hoiding company

Environmental and facilities
management

Engineering consultancy

Environmental and facilities
managemeant

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

95%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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MWH Treatment Limited

MWH UK Acquisitions Limited
Nature Positive Limited

Nicholas O'Dwyer & Cocmpany Limited

Nichclas O'Dwyer Design & Development

Limited

Nicholas O'Dwyer Limited

Nicholas O'Dwyer Limited
Non-Destructive Testing Services Ltd
Nor Entry Systems Limited

Optisol Services Limited

PA Group (UK) Limited

PB Driling Limited

Pelling Limited

Pellings LLP

Pendragon Holdings Limited

Pensar Bullding Pty Ltd

Pensar Construction Group Pty Limited
Pensar Project Infrastructure Pty Lid
Pensar Structures Pty Ltd

Pensar Utilities Pty Limited

Pensar Water Pty Ltd

Pharos Field Engineering Services Limited

Pharos Generator Services Limited
Pharos Power Support Group Limited
Prizebreak Limited

Proeon Holdings Limited

Prceon Systems bimited

Froject Milner Limited

Projence Pty Ltd

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales

Ireland

Ireland

Iretand

Northern Ireland
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Ergland & Wales
Australia
Australia
Austrahia
Austraia
Australia
Australia
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Ireland

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

Austraba

Environmentai and facilities
management

Holding company
Environmental consultancy

Engineering caonsuitancy

Engineering consuitancy

Engineering consultancy
Engineering consultancy
Testing services

Manufacturing of machinery
Engineering construction
Inspection and testing services
Driling activities

Dormant

Administration services

Holding company

infrastructure solutions provider
Holding company

Infrastructure solutions provider
Infrastructure solutions provider
Infrastructure solutions provider
Infrastructure solutions provider
Infrastructure services
Maintenance services

Holding company

Holding company

Holding company

Engineering services
Engineering consultancy

Project management

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

47



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Period from 4 April 2022 to 2 April 2023

PS Rail Limited
Quality Solutions International Limited
Quantum Geotechnic Limited

R.W. Management (Holdings) Limited

Remedx Limited

RGM Environment Proprietary Limuted
Richard Allitt Asscciates Limited

Richard irvin FM Limited

ROCP Limtted

RSK (Ireland) Limited

R5SK Acoustics Limited

RSK ADAS Eurcpe (Irefand) Limited
RSK ADAS Limited

RSK Alence GmbH

RSK Benelux BvBa

RSK Biocensus Limited
RSK Boden + Wasser GmbH

RSK Centre for Sustainability Excellence
PTE Ltd

RSK Cevre Hizmetleri Anonmm Sirketi

RSK Dominican Republic SRL

RSK Energy BY

RSK Environment (East Africa) Limited
RSK Environment (lreland) Limited
RSK Enviranment (isle of Man) Limited
RSK Environment (Kenya) Limited
RSK Environment (Uganda) Limited

RSK Environment {Tanzama) Limited

England & Wales
New Zealand
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

South Africa
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

Ireland
England & Wales

Germany

Beigium

England & Wales

Austria

Singapore

Turkey

Dominican Republic

Belgium
Tanzana
Ireland
Isle of Man
Kenya
Uganda

Tanzania

Darmant

Environmental consultancy
Environmental consuitancy
Helding company

Remediation design and
contracting

Site management services
Engineering consultancy
Electrical service provider

Cwvil and geotechnical
engineenng

Environmentat Consuiting &
Remediatian

Noise and vibrations
consultancy

Environmental consultancy
Environmental consuftancy
Environmental consultancy

Environmental Censuliing &
Remediation

Ecology consultancy services

Environmentai Services

Energy & sustainability services

Environmental, health & safety
services

Non-trading

Energy & sustainability services
Environmental consultancy
Enviranmentai consultancy
Environmental consultancy
Environmental consultancy
Environmental consultancy

Environmental consultancy

100%

68%

100%

100%

100%

56%

100%

100%

10G%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

90%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

56.7%

99%

100%

100%

100%

100%

30%
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RSK Environment Australla PTY Ltd
RSK Environment Italia SRL

RSK Environment Limited

RSK Environment LLC

RSK Environment LLC

RSK Environment Sh.P K

RSK Environment Switzerland GMBH
RSK Environment WLL

RSK Environmental LLC

RSK Environment Holding SAS

REK Environment SAS

RSK Europe BV

R3K Falkiand Islands Limited

RSK GCS Environment Propriety Limited
REK Group Trustees Limited

RSK Hi-Line Limited

RSK Integrated Waste Sclutions Limited
RSK Investments Limited

RSK Land and Development Engineering
Limited

RSK Middle East Limited

RSK Netherlands {Eerland Milieutechniek
Nederland) BV

RSK New Zealand Limited
RSK Orbital Limited

RSK Polska Sp. z.o.0

RSK Project Services Limited
RSK Radiological Limited
RSK Raw Limited

RSK Remediation and Development
Limited

Australa

[taly

Scetland

UAE

Russia

Albania
Switzerland
Qatar

Georgia

France

France

Belgium

Falkland Islands
South Africa
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

Netheriands

New Zealand
England & Wales
Poland

Engtand & Wales
Engiand & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

Environmental consuitancy
Environmental consuitancy
Environmental consultancy
Environmental consultancy
Environmental consultancy
Environmental consuitancy
Environmental Consultancy
Environmeantal services
Dormant

Environmental services
Environmental services
Environmental consultancy
Construction services

Site management services

Trustee management company

Environmental consuitancy

Waste management services
investment ccmpany

Civil Engineenng

Dermant

Site Investigation

Environmental consultancy
Surveying

Environmental services
Project management
Environmental Consulting

Specialist services

Dormant

100%

75%

100%

45%

100%

100%

100%

43%

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

55%

100%

51%

88%

100%

10G%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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RSK Renewables Limitad

RSK STATS Environment Health & Safety
Limited

RSK STATS Geoconsult Limited

RSK STATS Limited

RSKW Ltd

Salix River and Wetland Services Limited
SES Strategic Limited

Silcock Leedham Consulting Engineers
Limited

Silcock Leedham Group Limited
Singleton Clamp & Partners Limited
SJA Construction Services Limited
SJA Construction Serviges Pty Limited
SkyVision International Limited

SLCE Proiect Management Services LLC
Smith & Kennedy Architects Limited
Soitution BV

Sonic Drilling & Piling Planthire Limited
Southern Ecological Solutions Limited
Spencer ECA Group Limited

Spencer Enviconmental Care Associates
Limited

Stephenson Halliday Limited

Streetwise UK Management Limited
Structural Soils Limited

ATV Contract Services {previously
Talksman) Limited

TBF Contracting Limited
TBF Scaffolding Limited
TBF Traffic Limited

Technik Ground Solutions Limited

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales
Engtand & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales
New Zealand
Australia
England & Wales
UAE

England & Wales
Netherlands
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

Daormant

Non-trading

Nan-trading company
Cormant

Environmental consultancy
Construction services

Landscape design
Engineering consultancy

Engineering consuitancy
Engmneering cansultancy
Censtruction consultancy
Construction consultancy
Architectural services

Project management
Architectural services

Sol research and remediation
Plant hire

Envircnmental consultancy

Holding company
Enviranmental services

Environmental consultancy
Traffic management services

Ground Investigations &
Geotechnical Censultancy

Plant hire

Arboriculture services
Scaffolding services
Traffic management

Geotechnical specialists

100%

100%

100%
160%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
51%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
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Terraffix Soill Solutions Limited
Thus Consultants Limited

The Scan Station Limited

Travis Baker (Heldings) Ltd

Travis Baker East Midlands Limited
Travis Baker Geo-Environmental Limited
Travis Baker Limited

Treefellers Limited

Twig Trading Limited

Up And Under (Specialist Contracts) Ltd
Up And Under Group Limited

Up And Under Limited

W.G.M (Engineenng) Limited
Waldrams Limited

Water Research Centre Limited
Watertrain Acquisitions Limited
Watertrain Limited

Windtechs Ltd

Wyse Group Limited

WysePower B.V

Wysepower Limited

Zero Energy Design Limited

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
england & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Englard & Wales
England & Wales
Engiand & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Waies
England & Wales
Netherlands

England & Wales

England & Wales

Social research
Engineering consultancy
Specialist services
Hclding company
Engineering consultancy
Engineering consuitancy
Engineering consuitancy
Arboricultural services
Habitat management
Construction services
Site investigation services
Engineering consultancy
Engineering services
Chartered surveyors
Technical research
Holding company
Technical training

Wind turbine maintenance
Holding company
Temperary site services
Temporary site services

Engineering services

100%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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RSK Business Solutions Holdings Limited
RSK Business Solutions Limited

RSK Busmess Solutions Property Limited
RSK Business Solutions Private Limited
Vendata Ltd

Frog Environmental Limited

GBV JV Limited

P2 infrastructure Pty Lid

* shares held by a subsidiary

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
india

England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales

Australia

IT services
IT services
Real estate
IT services
Environmental consultancy
Environmental Consultancy

Engineering and construction
services

20%

20%

20%

20%

33%

50%

50%

Infrastructure Solutions Provider 50%

All companies have the same registered coffice as the Group. being Spring Lodge. 172 Chester Road. Helsby Cheshire
WAB DAR. with the exception of overseas companies and companies incorporated in Scotland.

RSK Environment Limited. Azerbayan Environment and Technolegy Centre Limited. Headland Group Limited. Headland
Archaeology Limited. SkyVision International Limited. W.G M {Engingering) Limited Absolute Solar and Wind Limited and
CBEC Eco Engineering Limited are all registered in Scotland, with an address of 65 Sussex Street. Glasgow. Scotland,
G41 1DX. Ares Management holds a share pledge over the shares of these entities which are registered as an cwnership
interest under Scotush Law, huwever RSK Group retains benefinial awnership of these shares with 100% voting rights and

operational control.

Watertrain Acguisitions Limited and Watertrain Limited are registered at Suite A4, Chadwick House Birchwood Park
Warrington, United Kingdom WA3 BAE. The Scan Station Limited is registered at 2 Old Bath Road, Newbury Berkshire

England. RG14 1QL.
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The following subsidiary undertakings have been excluded from the consolidation under Section 405 of the Compames Act
as they are considered to be immatenal or the companies did nct trade in the financial year or have not been consolidated
and operaticns are in the process of being wound up.

RSK Remed:ation and Development Limited

RSK Environmental LLC {incorparated in Georgia}
Amberco BvBa (Belgium)

RSK Environment Sh.P K {incorporated in Albania)
RSK Group Trustees Limitag

RSK Ervironment (Kenya) Ltd (incorporated
Kenya)

RSK Domican Republic SR L. (incorporated
Dominican Republic)

Company

Fair value

Atd April 2022
Additions

Fair value adjustments

Disposals

At 2 April 2023

100 - -
100 - -
89.67 - -
100 - -
100 - -

" 100 - -

n 100 . -

£000

300.700
9,785
(22

310.483

Investments in subsidiaries are held at fair value, based on the directors’ assessment. Methodclogy for determining fair
value I1s descnbed more fully in accounting policies on pages 28 and 30.

The cost of investments at 2 April 2023 was £47.145,000 {2022 £47 187.000).

Management have performed sensitivity analysis to ascertam the impact of movement in muftiples used in tha valuation

maodel. Details are as follows.

Multiple increased by 10%
Multiole decreased by 10%

£81 741.000
{£81,741.000)
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16 Business combinations

Companies acguired during the year are presented 1n the below table. [n the case of all acquisitions. the price to be paid
includes an initial cash payment. together with earn-out consideration and professional fees. Goodwill, where applicable. is

amortised over 10 years.

Corporate acquisitions

ADEV Environnement SAS

Fellows Constructicn Consultants Ltd

Windtechs Ltd

Watertrain Acquisitions Limited and its subsidiary Watertrain Limited

Prizebreak Limited and its subsidiary Dermot Casey Hire & Sales Limited

Dermot Casey Tree Care Limited

Project Milner Limited

SJA Construction Services Pty Limited and its subsidiary SJA Construction Services Limited

MSS Group Limited and its subsidiaries Acorn Chemical Services Limited, MSS Caonsulting
Limited, MSS Envircnmental Limited. and MSS Facilties Services Ltd

FR Consultants Limited

MG Scaffolding (Oxford) Limited

Soilution BV

Proecn Holdings Limited and its subsidiary Froeon Systems Limited
Projence Pty Ltd

Spencer ECA Group Limited and its subsidiaries Spencer Envircnmental Care Associates
Limited and Quantum Geotechnic Limited

Copper Caonsultancy Limited

Milestone Communications Limited

Midrock Construction Limited and its subsidiary Hollywood Civil Engineering Limited
Terraffix Soil Solutions Limited

W.G.M (Engineering) Limited

Travis Baker {Holdings) Ltd and its subsidiaries Travis Baker Geo-Environmental Limited, Travis

Baker East Midlands Limited, and Travis Baker Limited.
Brown & May Marine Holdings Limited and its subsidiary Brown & May Marine Limited

Ecaonomic Research Services Limited

25 Aprii 2022
27 April 2022
29 April 2022
04 May 2022
23 May 2022
23 May 2022
27 May 2022

27 May 2022

10 June 2022

13 June 2022
01 July 2022
20 July 2022
21 July 2022

22 July 2022

03 August 2022

04 August 2022
04 August 2022
26 September 2022
30 September 2022

01 October 2022
06 October 2022
14 October 2022

31 October 2022
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Wyse Group Limited and its subsidiaries WysePower Limited and WysePower BV 16 November 2022
Treefellers Limited 13 December 2022
Irish Drilling Limited 22 December 2022

Pensar Construction Group Pty Limited and its subsidiaries Pensar Utilities Pty Limited, Pensar
Water Pty Ltd, Pensar Building Pty Ltd, Pensar Structures Pty Ltd. Pensar Project Infrastructure 23 December 2022
Pty Ltd, Gold Coast Water Collective Pty Li¢, and P2 Infrastructure Pty Ltd

BMG Research Holdings Limited and its subsidiary BMG Research Ltd 24 January 2023
Hydrofix Limited 02 February 2023
Richard Irvin FM Limited 17 February 2023
Southern Ecalogical Solutions Limited and its subsidiary SES Strategic Limited 01 March 2023
4AP-Geoteknik A/S 01 March 2023
Hawkins Electrical Holdings Limited and its subsidiary Hawkins Electrical Limited 09 March 2023

CX Group Holdings Limited and its subsid:anes Certus Utility Consulting Limited, CX Utilities

Limited, and CX Energy Ltd 31 March 2023

Calibrate Group Limited and its subsidiaries Calibrate Inc Ltd, Calibrate Maintenance Ltd,

Calibrate Leasing Limited. and Gridflex Ltd 01 April 2023
Trade and asset acquisitions
Pickford and Rhyder Consulting 28" November 2022
£000
Corporate acqguisitions 100% 290,864
Corporate acquisitions 85% 14,175
Corporate acquisitions 50% 195
305,238
Trade and asset purchases 27

Total consideration transferred 305,265

Cantingent consideration is payable according to earn-out parameters which vary across acquisitions. but are largely
based on achievement of specified EBITDA metrics. Contingent consideration 1s recognised for earn-outs relating to the
current and subsequent financial year as contingent consideration cannot be reliabiy estimated beyond this penod.

Due to both the large number of acquisitions throughout the year and the commercial sensitivity surrounding the data. the
directors have aggregated the requirad disclosures in respeact of acquisitions made dunng the year. Individually materiai
acquisitions are disclosed separately. and acguisttions are also shown by division.
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Acguisitions that are material in size are disclosed below

Cash

Loans settled on acquisition
Contingent consideration arrangement
Cash anc other consideration
Acquisition costs

Total cansideration

Intangible assets excluding goodwiil

Property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Stock

Trade and other ligbihties

Consideration

Fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired

Pensar Wyse Group FR Consultants  MSS Group
£000 £000 £000 £000
38,908 27,790 18,558 27,342
- 5,675 3,717 {187)

981 2,778 7,836 -
39,889 36,243 30,111 27,155
382 385 319 368
40,271 36,628 30,430 27,523
4 - 38 15

3.706 3,624 246 438
9,633 (301) 1,262 8,814
15784 15,318 6,114 7.364

. 747 2 46
(24,283) (4,009) (2,218) {3,829)
4,844 15,380 5,444 12,8438
40,271 36,628 30,430 27,523
{4.844) (15,380) {5.444) (12,848)
35,427 21,248 24,986 14,675
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Cash

Loans settled on acquisition
Contingent consiceration arrangement
Cash and other consideration
Acguisition costs

Tetal consideraticn

Intangible assets excluding goodwill

Property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Stack

Trade and other Liabilities

Consideration

Fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired

Southern
W.G.M. Ecological Spencer Group Copper
£000 Solutions £000 £000

£000
17,688 10,000 14,353 11,151
- 7,005 1,000 -
777 88 738 3,028
18,465 17,093 16,091 14,179
430 198 280 251
18,895 17,292 16,371 14,430
- - - 22
3.788 100 5.371 60
1,371 783 943 1.116
9,920 7614 4522 2,564
139 26 640 -
(6,698) (271) {3,433) {3,036)
8,520 8,252 8,043 726
18,895 17,292 16.371 14,430
{8.520) (8,252) {8,043} (726)
10,375 9,040 8,328 13,704
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Cash

Loans settled on acquisition
Contingent consideration arrangement
Cash and other censideration
Acquisition costs

Total consideration

Intangible assets excluding goodwill

Praperty, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Stock

Trade and other liabilities

Consideration

Fair value of identifiable net assets
acquired

MG Scaffolding Milestone Hawkins Proeon

£000 £000 £000 £000

11,823 6,865 7,991 8119

- 744 - -

47 533 104 -

11,870 8,142 8,095 8,119

224 180 212 113

12,094 8,322 8,307 8,232

899 866 513 138

857 805 353 476

3,834 2739 39877 2,993

44 147 850 -

(1,043) {1,393) (1.515) (588)

4,691 3,164 4,218 3,019

12,094 8,322 8,307 8,232

(4.691) (3.164) (4,218) (3,019
7403

5,158

4,089

5,213
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16 Business combinations (continued)

Acquisiticns not disclosed separately were individually immaterial. but have been analysed by division below

Environmental

Arboricultural Construction Electrical Engineering Training &
Services Consultancy  gervice Provider ~Consultancy Consultancy
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash 8,285 5477 6.013 8 402 5789
Loans settled on
acquisition ) ) (500) (3) (468)
Contingent consideration 285 2 454 295 447 379
arrangement
Cash and other 9,170 7,931 6,238 8,847 5,693
consideration
Acauisition costs 371 249 382 271 272
Total consideration 9,541 8,180 6,620 9,118 5965
Intangible assets
excluging goodwill ) ) 12 ) 29
Praperty, plant and 2 561 211 73 167 576
equipment
Cash and cash 2.254 1,258 385 1.381 978
equivalents
Trade and other
recevables 1315 2.268 6.136 4.340 1,761
Stock 286 - - - 152
Trade and other liabilities (2 008} (2,306) (4.712) (1,495) {2.394)

4,388 1,429 1,994 4,393 1,102
Consideration 9 541 8.180 6620 9118 5965
Fair value of identifiable (4,388) (1429 (1994) {4 393) (1.102)
net assets acquired

4,725 4,863

5153 6,751 4,626

Acquisitions not disclosed separately were indiwvidually immatenal, but have been analysed by division below
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Cash

Loans settled on
acquisition

Contingent consideration
arrangament

Cash and other
consideration

Acquisition costs

Total consideration

Intangible assets
excluding goodwill

Property, plant and
eguipment

Cash and cash
equivalents

Trade and other
receivables

Stock

Trade and other liabilities

Consideration

Fair value of identifiable
net assets acguired

4,430

2,227

5,969

Geotechnical Marine Project Utilities
Services Consultancy  pManagement Research Services
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

7.926 7.39S 2021 7,321 4,800

- - ; 79 :

254 437 217 1.179 275

8,180 7,836 2,238 8,579 5,075

252 81 80 184 378

8,432 7,917 2,318 8,763 5,453

- - 1 . -

1969 252 40 231 141

1.468 1.667 180 488 481

1.658 1.260 298 26,047 1,271

216 - - - -

(1,307) (942) (428) (23.972) (1 052)

4,002 2,537 21 2,794 851

8432 7.817 2318 8.763 5453

(4 002) (2 537) (91 (2.794) (851)

5,380 4,802
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16 Business combinations (continued)

Total acquisitions for the period are disclosed below

Cash

Loans settled on acquisition
Contingent consideration arrangement
Cash and other consideration
Acquisition costs

Total consideration

Intangible assets excluding goodwill
Property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivaients
Trade and other receivables

Stock

Trade and other liabilities

Consideration

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group

Corporate Acquisitions

Trade and asset

purchases

£000 £000
264,020 27
17,062 -
24,156 -
305,238 27
5865 -
- 311,103 27
220 -
26,069 27
36,960 -
129,095 -
3,318 -
{92,530} -
102,730 27
311,103 27
{102,730) (27
208,373 -

Post-acquisition revenue and post-acquisition profit after tax for corperate acquisitions were £173 224 000 and
£18.780,00C respectively. The post-acquisition penod is from the date of acquisitien to 2 Apnl 2023.
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17 Stocks

Group

£ 000 £ 000
Consumables 9‘709 5685
18 Debtors
Note £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £000
Trade debtors 212,750 139,754 56 3
Amounts owed by related parties - - 26,886 29882
Other debtors 26,219 20 181 2,704 4119
Prepayments 32,498 17.039 7.774 7 055
Accrued mcome 148,832 92 121 - 95
Corporation tax asset 13,923 8936 6836 566
Group relief receivable - - 13,802 13.144
434,222 278,011 51,858 54 869
Deferred tax asset 22 16,547 14.081 - -
Amounts owed by related parties - - 688,232 396 803
16,547 14 081 688,232 396 803
Total Debtors 450,769 292,092 740,090 451,672
19 Cash and cash equivalents
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
Cash at bank 103,663 110 5698 3,410 2874
Bank overdrafts (15,037) (2.089) - -
Cash and cash equivalents in statement of cash flows 88,626 108 609 3,410 2874
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20 Creditors

Loans and borrowings

Trade creditors

Amounts due to related parties
Social secunty and other taxes
Other creditors

Deferred consideration
Accruals and deferred income

Corporation tax hability

Loans and berrowings
Other creditors

Deferred consideration

21 Provisions

Group

At 4 April 2022
Charge to profit and loss account
Acguisitions

Reallocated

Deferred tax movement (see note 22)

At 2 Aprit 2023

Note £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £000
26 57,546 39 957 32,089 29,407
107,565 75 589 5,663 5816
. . 7,043 28 058
35,569 24 954 628 17
65,192 43676 19,298 9,564
33,082 33,748 - -
142,935 91 623 9,811 4.108
5,986 2.833 - -
447,875 312,478 74,532 77.070
26 769,423 467172 748,561 454 058
72 1.030 . .
26,545 22905 - .
796,045 4391 107 748,561 454058
£ 000 £000 £000
7 628 539 3,167
- {2} (2)
- 130 130
- (150 (150)
3044 - 3,044
5672 517 6,189

The aother provisions carried forward position relates to a dilapidations provision In a subsidiary company.
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22 Deferred tax

Group

£000
At 4 Apnl 2022 11.453
Deferred tax on acguisitions (2.481)
Origination and reversal of imings differences 1857
Impact ¢f change in tax rate (3D
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 1.757
Overseas movements {1.480)
At 2 Apnl 2023 10,875

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset in relation to unrelieved tax losses of approximately £13.5m {2022
£13 3m) carried forward at 2 April 2023 These unrelieved tax losses are avallable for utilisation against future trading
profits The Group also has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £61m in the pernod which 1s materially made up of
unreiieved tax losses across the Group.

2023 2022
Deferred tax asset 16,547 14.081
Deferred tax labiity {5,672) (2.628)
Net deferred tax asset i0,87_5 - 11 ‘453

23 Pension and other schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme The pension cost charge for the period represents contributions
payable by the Group to the scheme and amounted to £16.331 000 {2022 - £10 980.000).

£000 £000

Structural Soils Retiremnent Benefit Scheme No 2 - -
RSK Alenco GmbH Retirement Benefit Scheme 267 248
267 248
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Structural Scils Retirement Benefits Scheme No. 2

The company operates a defined benefit scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
company. being invested with insurance companies. The scheme is closed to new members as of 1 April 2002 The
members' pensicn benefits under the scheme were made paid up with effect from 5 April 2003. No further benefits are
accruing under the scheme. A comprehensive actuarial valuation of the Company pension scheme, using the projected
unit credit method. was carried out on 5 Apni 2021, and showed a deficiency on a current funding leve! basis of £151,000
(5 Aprii 2018. £445,000). From April 2019. the company has been required 1o pay minimum contriputions of £50,000 per
annum increasing by 3% per annum.

Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and liabilities recognised.

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial pesition are as follows:

£ 000 £000
Fair value of scheme assets 2,329 2.507
Present value of defined henefit obhgation {1,729) (2.559)
800 38
Changes 1n asset ceiling (600) (38)
Defined benefit pension scheme deficit - -
Changes in the defined benefit obligation are as follows.
£ 000 £ 000
Present value at start of period 2,559 2614
Interest cost 70 59
Loss on curtailments/changes/introductions - 151
Actuarial (gains}/losses (782) (249)
Benefits pard (118} {18)
Present value at end of period 1,729 2,659
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Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows

Fair value at start of period
Interest income

Expenses

Actuanal {losses)/gains
Employer contnbutions

Benefits paid

Farr value at end of period

The fair value of the plan assets was

Cash and cash equivalents
Equity instruments

Other assets

£000 £000
2,597 2,558
72 57
{2) 2)
(289) (48)
69 48
(118) (16)
2,329 2,597
£ 000 £ 000
228 123
598 654
1,503 1.820
2597

2,329

Nore of ths fair values of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the company's own financial instruments

ar any property occupied by. or other assets used by. the company

Loss on curtalments/changes/introductions
Expenses
Net interest cost

Interest expense an effect of asset celing

£000
151

1565
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£ 000 £ 000
Return on scheme assets 289 43
Experience gams/losses arising on the scheme 132 86
Effect of changes in demcgraphic and financial assumptions {914) {337}
Changes In asset ceiling 561 38
68 (165)

The principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date are as follows:
% Y
Discount rate 4.80 2.80
Future pansion Increases 3.10 3.60
Inflation 3.40 3.90
Years Years
Current UK pensicners at relirement age - male 21 22
Current UK pensioners at retirement age - female 22 24
Future UK pensioners at retirement age - male 22 22
Future UK pensioners at retirement age - female 24 24

RSK Alenco GmbH Retirement Benefit Scheme

The provisions for pensions and similar obligaticns are calculated using recognized actuarial principles based on
biometric probabilities (Heubeck 2018 G mortality tables) using the projected unit credit method. When determining the
provisions. annual pensian increases of 1.5% were assumed. When determining the discount rate for matching maturities.
an average remaining term of 15 years s assumed n the apglication of the option under Section 253 (2) sentence 2 HGB
for discounting. The actuarial interest rate used as of the balance sheet date 1s based on the average market interest rate
far the past ten years determined by the Deutsche Bundesbank in accordance with section 253 (2) sentence 1 HGB and
15 1.79 % (previous year 1.81%).

As of March 31. 2022, discounting the provisions for pensions using the average market interest rate for the past ten
years resulted in a reduction in the provisions for pensions of EUR 10k (difference) compared to discounting using the
average market interest rate for the past seven years. According to§ 253 Section 6 Sentence 2 HGB. this 1s barred from
distribution. Utihzing the nght to choose according to Art, 67 Para. 1 Sentence 1 EGHGB. the change resulting from the
change in the accaunting of provisions according to Sections 249 Para 1 Sentence 1. 253 Para. 1 Sentence 2, Para. 2
HGB through the Accounting Law Modernization Act (BIlMoG). Aliocation spread over the maximum period of 15 years
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The provisions not shown in the balance sheet for current pensions and similar obligations within the meaning of Art. 67
Para. 2 EGHGB from the conversion to the BilMoG that teok place in 2010 amounted to EUR 1 thousand in the financial

year.

In application of the transitional option according to Art. 67 Para. 1 Clause 1 EGHGB. the original difference is to be

distributed over a period of 15 years,

Provisions for retirement benefit obligations as at 2 April 2023 are measured using the following bases:

Pension Trend

Interest rate

24  Share capital

A Ordinary Shares of £1 each
B Ordinary Shares of £1 each
C Ordinary Shares of £1 each
Growth Shares of £0.05 each

Share capital as at 4 Apnl 2022
Shares 1ssued dunng the year
Share capital as at 2 Aprl 2023

Ordinary shares have the foliowing rights. preferences and restrictions

Vating rnights.

Growth shares have the following nghts. preferences and restrictions:

No voling rights,

1.50% 1.50%

1.79% 1.81%

No. 000 £000 No. 000 £000
919 919 819 819

1 1 1 1
19,857 993 14.935 747
20,777 1,913 15 855 1867
£ 000

1,867
246
1.913
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25 Employee Benefit Trust

Included in Other Reserves is the Employee Benefit Trust (EBT). The EBT remans in place to act as a vehicle for the
buying and selling of shares to employees. The vehicle 1s used predominantly for growth shares.

The EBT purchases shares to buy and sell to RSK Group employees. As at 2 April 2023, the EBT held 3,542,878 (2022
2.808.926) shares in RSK Group Limited with a bock value of £1.876 447 (2022° £1,198.379). The EBT also held 3,177
(2022'3.177) shares in RSK Land & Development Engineering Limited with a book value of £3.177 (2022 £3,177).

During the year the EBT purchased 733,852 growth shares of the Company at a cost of £788.561 representing 4% of
Issued share capital.

During the year the EBT did not purchase or sell any ordinary ‘A’ shares of the Company. During the year. the EBT
received dividends In respect of the 'A’ shares it holds of £3,120 (2022 £4,560). The EBT received dividends from RSK
Land & Development Engineering Limited of £31.887 (2022 £10.548).

26 Loans and borrowings

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

External debt funding 747,058 452 534 746,843 452 137
Bank overdrafts 1,189 1.810 - -
Finance lease liabilities and HP 21,181 12 728 1,718 1.921
769,428 467 172 748,561 454 (058

External debt funding 31,929 28 811 30,850 28 000
Bank overdrafts 13,848 279 - -
Finance lease liabilities and HP 11,769 10.867 1,229 1407

57,546 39 957 32,089 29407

The Group agreed a new seven-year financing agreement with Ares Management in July 2021 These funds comprise a
£750.000,000 committed acquisition facility and a further £250.000.000 incremental acquisitions facility. In May 2023 the
remaining £250,000,000 was committed. The agreement matures in 2028 with a bullet repayment due on the date of
maturity. The agreed interest rate SONIA/EURIBOR plus 5% pius an additicnal variable charge for payment in kind
(2023 2.5%). The financing agreement includes three Sustainability Performance Targets, If the targets are met the
Group 1s entitled to a Cash Pay Margin adjustment. In FY23 we met all three Sustainability Performance Targets
achieving a margin reduction of 0.125%. The financing agreement 1s secured by a charge over the shares of the majority
of RSK Group companies. A net leverage covenant of 7.75x or below must be maintained for the first two years. which
will drep to 7.65x for years 3-4 and will drop further thereafter,

The Group agreed an Incremental Faciity of 75,000.000 Australian Doilars in December 2022, A further Incremental
Faciiity of 41,000.000 Australian Dollars was agreed in August 2023. These were arranged under the Ares Management
financing agreement referred to above and using the same general terms but using the Australian Bark 8il! Swap
Reference Rate (Bid) as the basis for interest.
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The Group has a £40,000.000 Revolving Credit Facility with NatWest bank which was increased to £50.000,000 in May
2023 Interest i1s payable quarterly at variable margin {2023 3.25%) plus SONIA on the draw down amount. All ather
terms are in line with the Ares financing agreement.

27 Obligations under leases

The total of future mintmum tease payments is as follows.

£000 £ 000 £ 00O £ 000

Not later than one year 7,300 6.801 1,801 1496
Later than one year and not later than five years 19,428 18223 6,371 4 798
Later than five years 15,284 11071 7,948 5026
42012 36.085 16,120 11.320

The amount of non-cancellable operating lease payments recognised as an expense durning the pertod was £6.168.000
(2022 £6 044 000) for the Group and £1.495 729 (2022 - £2 562.000) for the Company.

28 Dividends

£ 000 £000
Intenim dividend of £1 {2022 - £1) per each A ordinary share 919 819
Final divicend of £1 (2022 - £1) per each A ordinary share 919 g19
Total dividend declared in the year 1,838 1,838

29 Contingent liabilities

The company is party to cross guarantee arrangements relating to a borrowing faciiity provided by Ares Management to
RSK Group Limited. The amount borrowed under this agreement at 2 April 2023 1s £765.284,000 (2022 £467.336.000)

The company 1s also a guarantor of any trading and other obhgations of any RSK Group member that may be a Junior
Creditor in the related Subordination Deed

Acquisitions are paid for in cash on completion plus 1in some cases. loans settled, deferred considaration and an earnout
which i1s unigue in each situation. Deferred consideration has been fully provided as a liability as 1s earnout to the extent
that it 1s probable and can be measured reliably.

There remains a contingent iability of £24.8m {2022, £18.1m) which would be payable in future years were the current
level of profit to be maintamned.
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30 Analysis of changes in net debt

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Long-term borrowings (452.634) (276.807) (20 - (17.587) (747,058)
Short-term borrowings (28.811) (784) {2.334) - - (31,929)
Lease liabilties (23.595) 5961 (3.320) (12.996) - {32,950)
Total liabilities (505 040} (270 830) (5674) {12.996) (17.597) (811,937)
Cash and cash eguivalents 108.609 {19.983) - - - 88,626
Total net debt (396.431) (290.613) (5.674) (12 996) (17.597) (723,311)

31 Related party transactions

Group

£ 0C0 £ 000 £ 000
Unsecured loans from dircctors (931; (A7) (978)

Atthe year-end, other creditors includged unsecured loans from directors of the cempany with an interest charge of 10%
{2022° 10%) per annum payabie on the loans, half of which 1s paid and half of which is rolled-up.

Alan Ryder Investments Limited
Property

Alan Ryder Investments Limited leases propertes to the Group. During the year the company charged the Group
£418.000 (2022 {restated)* £300.000) in respect of rent and services. The amount due to Alan Ryder Investments
Limited 1n respect of these charges at the perod end was £12 000 (2022, £nil}.

*Prior year has been restated from £214,000 to £300,000 as the prior year figure was incorrect.
Alan Ryder iInvestments Directors Plan Limited
Property

Alan Ryder Investments Directors Plan Limited leases properties to the Group. Dunng the year. the company charged the
Group £91.000 (2022 £29.000).

The amount due te Alan Ryder Investments Directors Plan Limited In respect of these charges at the peried end was
£50.000 (2022 Enily
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Wigan Property LLP

Rental payments of £48.000 were made to Wigan Property LLP during the year, an LLP upon which Alan Ryder was a
member untll February 2023

The amount due to Wigan Property LLP in respect of these charges at the period end was £4,000. In the prior year Wigan
LLP was not a related party and therefore no pricr year comparatives are presented.

Crichton Carbon Centre

Chartable contnibutions of £17,000 (2022 £11 000) were made to Crichton Carbon Centre during the year. a charity that
M A E Smyth is a Trustee of.

The amount due to Crichton Carbon Centre in respect cf these charges at the period end was £2 000 (2022, £nil).

The following are transactions with non-wholly owned subsidiaries:

Subsidiary Subsidiary

£ 0co £ 000

Receipt of services 1,125 846
Amounts recevable from related party 1,616 3185
Subsidiary Subsidiary

£000 £ 000

Rendering of services 77 3940
Amocunts payable to related party 537 4213

All other related party transactions and balances are with companies within the RSK Group Related party transactions of
RSK Group Limited's subsidiary undertakings are disclosed in therr respective financial statements
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The Group acgured the foliowing businesses after the financial period end

ARA Architecture Limited
HPD Desigmng Consultants Private Limited

1% Inrail Limited

Axis Well Technology Group Limited and its subsidiaries
Axis Well Technology International Limited Axis Well
Technalogy Limited. Axis Well Technology Management
Limited. and Axis Well technology Middle East LLC

The Woodhouse Partnership Limited and its subsidiaries
TWPL Consuiting Services LTBA, The Woodhouse
Partnership North America Ltd, Decision Support tools
Limited Asset Wisdom Limited (minority investment) and Brij
Solutions LTDA (minonty investment)

We are BrandNew Ltd
W, Crowdger & Sons Limited

Kirton Water Treatment Services Limited

Bateman Skips Limited and its subsidiary Affordable Skip
Hire Bristel Limited

Project Ires Topco Limited and its subsidiaries Project Ires
Bidco Limited PD&MS Holdings Limited, PD&MS Energy
{Aberdeen) Limited. PD&MS (Dundee) Limited. Optimus
Plus (Aberdeen) Limited. PC&MS Energy {Azerbayan) LLC
and Synergie Environ Limited

Kiely McCarthy Cansulting Engineers Limited andg its
subsidianes Knockridge Investmeants Limited and Jennings
O’Donavan Limited

R.J.T Excavations Limited

Larsen Water Management Ltd and sister company Larsen
Water Management lre Ltd

Global Rail Construction Limited and sister company Glcbal
Rail Services Limited and its subsidiary GRSL Limited
(Ireland)

Triune Investments Pty Ltd and its subsidiary Atlantic {(Aust)
Pty Ltd

Virtus Energy Limited

ABM Serveis d'Enginyena | Consulting S L

Aurora Health Physics Services Limited

England & Wales

India

England & Wales

England & Wales
Scotland / United
Arab Emirates

England & Wales
/ USA /Brazi

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

England & Wales

England & Wales
/ Scotland /
Azerbaijan

Ireland

Scotland

England & Wales
/reland

England & Wales
{ Ireland

Australia

England & Wales

Spain

England & Wales

02.05.2023
16.05.2023

24052023

02.06.2023

02.06.2023

02.08.2023
08.06.2023
06.07.2023

11.07 2023

14.07.2023

01.08.2023

17.08.2023
25.08.2023
07.08.2023
{rish .

companies

18.10.2023

08.09.2023

08.09.2023

02 10.2023

06 10 2023

Non adjusting events after the financial period

Architectural Services
Engineering Services

Construction of Railways
and underground
Railways

Energy Industry

Management consultancy
activities and architectural
activities

Advertising Agencies

Whoiesale of flowers and
plants

Other Manufacturing

Collection of ncn-
hazardous waste

Environmental and
engineering services

Investment company/
Consulting engineering
firm

Site Preparation

Technical Testing and
Analysis

Construction and
engineering services

Energy Services

Manufacture of electricity
distribution and controi
apparatus

Water sector engineering
and consultancy

Other professional.
scientific and technical
achvities



Sustainable Aguafarms Limited England & Wzles 31.10.2023 Marne Agquaculture

Manufacture of fabricated

Homer Burgess Limited England & Wales 31.10.2023
metal products

Herntage assessment and

Extent Hentage PTY Limited Australia 03.11.2023
management activities

Environmental consuiting

DWD Property and Planning Limited and ts subsidiary 08119023 actvites

Dalton Wamer Davis LLP England & Wales
Brown & May Marine France SAS France 23012024 Marne environmental
consuitancy
Property and valuation
Business & assets of Dalton Warner Davis LLP England & Wales 08.11.2023 advisers. business rates

experts and planning
consultants

The Group established the following companies after the financial period end

SJA Construction Services PTE Ltd Singapere 11.08.2023 Canstruction consultancy

Property and valuation
advisers. business rates

DWD Property and Planning Limited England & Wales 28.09.2023 .
experts and planning
consultants

RSK Sclucicnes Ambientales. S L Spain 02102023  /vater sector engineering
and consultancy

RSK India Engineering Centre Private Limited Incia 23.10.2023 Sgr?t\:eeermg production

Brown & May Marime Spain S L. Spain 27122023 Marine environmental

consultancy

The Group has filed to strike off the fecllowing dormant companies since 3 Apnl 2023

Geotechnical & Structural Services (Holdings) Limited
Geotechnical And Structural Services Limited

R. W Management (Holdings) Ltd

PS Rail Limited

An interim dividend of £1,000.000 was declared in Octcher 2023.

As part of a pregramme of carporate simplification which ams to remove intermediate holding companies from the RSK
Group. the following transactions have taken place after the year end

On 25 October 2023 the entire share capital of Pharos Generator Services Limited and Pharos Field Engineering
Services Limited was transferred from Phares Power Support Group Limited to RSK Environment Limited.

On 25 October 2023, the entire share capital of RSK ADAS Limited was transferred frem R W. Management Holdings
Limited to RSK Environment Limited.



On 25 October 2023 33.4% cf the share capital of RSK Orbital Limited was transferred from RSK investments Limited to
RSK Environment Limited. leaving RSK Enviranment Limited as the scle parent.

On 25 Octeber 2023, Headland Group Limited undertcok a capital reduction under which it reduced its share capital to
38,125 ordinary shares of £0. 000028 and its share premium reserve of £11 522 was canceiled.

Under Scots law securty arrangements associated with the Group's funding. Ares Management Limited was the legal
owner of the share capital in Headland Group Limited. Headland Group Limited was released from the security of the
funding arrangement on 3 August 2023.

Following this release. on 26 October 20232. the entire share capital of Headland Group Limited was transferred from Ares
Management Limited to RSK Environment Limited.

Under Scots law security arrangements associated with the Group's funding. Ares Management Limited was the legal
owner of the entire share capital in Headland Archaeology {UK) Limited. For the purposes of the Group simpkfication the
shares in Headland Archaeology (UK) Limited were refeased from the security.

Following this release, on 26 October 2023, the entire share capital of Headland Archaeclogy {UK) Limited was
transferred from Ares Management Limited to Headland Group Limited.

The entire share capital of Headland Archaeclogy {UK) Limited was then transferred from Headland Group Limited to
RSK Envirgnment Limited on 26 Qctcber 2023.

Following that transfer, the entire share capital of Headland Archaeslogy (UK) Limited was charged back tc Ares
Management Limited as security and as such. the shares were transferred from RSK Environment Limited back tc Ares
Management Limited on 26 Cctober 2023

On 9 November 2023. the entire share capital of C.R. Civil Engineering Limited was transferred from DVCR Group
Limited to RSK Environment Limited

Cn § November 20273 the entire share capital of Brown & May Marine Limited was transferred from Brown & May Marine
Holdings Limited to RSK Environment Limited

On 9 November 2023 the entire share capital of Progon Systems Limited was transferred from Proeon Heldings Limited
to RSK Environment Limited.

On 9 November 2023, the entire share capital of lan Farmer Associates {1998) Limited was transferred from Geotechnical
and Structural Services Limited to RSK Environment Limited.

On 9 November 2023, Pendragon Holdings made a capital contribution of £1 to DVCR Group Limited

On 9 November 2023. the entire share capital of CRCE Plant Limited was transferred from Pendragon Heldings Limited
to RSK Environment Limited.

RSK Environmant Limited entered into a deed of novation with TBF Contracting Limitad and BTS Group Limited pursuant
to which RSK Environment Limited assumed the liability of TBF Contracting Limited to pay BTS Group Limited £233 425
to create reserves in TBF Contracting Limited.

On 9 November 2023 the entire share capital of TBF Traffic Limited and TBF Scaffolding Limited was transferred from
TBF Contracting Limited to RSK Environment Limited

On 20 November 2023. the entire share capital of Watertrain Limited was transferred from Watertrain Acquisitions Limited
to RSK Environment Limited

On 20 November 2023, the entire share capital of Hollywood Civil Engineering Limited was transferred from Midrock
Construction Limited to RSK Environment Limited.

On 20 November 2023 the entire share capital of Singleton Clamp and Partners Limited was transferred from Thus
Consultants Limited to RSK Environment Limited.



